Eötvös Loránd University

FACULTY OF SCIENCE

Packing common independent sets through reductions of matroids

— Diploma Thesis —

Author: Tamás Bence Schwarcz Supervisor: Kristóf Bérczi



Department of Operations Research Budapest, 2020.

Acknowledgements

I would like to thank my supervisor, Kristóf Bérczi, for working with me in the past two years. I am grateful for his continuous support, never ending enthusiasm and the many offline and online consultations we spent in good humour.

The project has been supported by the European Union, co-financed by the European Social Fund (EFOP-3.6.3-VEKOP-16-2017-00002).

Contents

Introduction 1			
1	Pre	liminaries	3
	1.1	Definitions	3
	1.2	Matroid intersection and union	4
	1.3	Notations from graph theory	5
	1.4	Constructions of matroids	5
2	Con	nplexity results	7
	2.1	Hardness in the independence oracle model	7
	2.2	Hardness in the linear case	11
3	Inte	eresting special cases	14
	3.1	Strongly base orderable matroids	14
	3.2	Matroids without $(k + 1)$ -spanned elements	16
	3.3	Open problems	18
		3.3.1 Rota's basis conjecture	18
		3.3.2 Woodall's conjecture on packing dijoins	18
		3.3.3 Equitability of matroids	19
4	Upp	per bound on common independent set cover	22
	4.1	Topological tools	22
		4.1.1 Simplicial complexes	22
		4.1.2 Barycentric subdivisions	23
		4.1.3 k -connectivity	24
		4.1.4 The Knaster-Kuratowski-Mazurkiewicz lemma	27
	4.2	The intersection of a matroid and a simplicial complex	28
	4.3	2-approximation	29
	4.4	A slightly stronger result	30
	4.5	The best possible upper bound	32
5	Red	luction to partition matroids	3 4
	5.1	Reductions of matroids	34
	5.2	Transversal, graphic and paving matroids	35
		5.2.1 Transversal matroids	35

	5.2.2 Graphic matroids	36		
	5.2.3 Paving matroids	37		
5.3	Gammoids	41		
5.4	Truncation and reducibility	45		
5.5	An application: list colouring of two matroids	46		
5.6	Some negative results	47		
	5.6.1 Reduction to strongly base orderable matroids	47		
	5.6.2 Reduction of matroids without $(k + 1)$ -spanned elements	48		
	5.6.3 Reduction to matroids without $(k+2)$ -spanned elements	49		
5.7	Conclusions	49		
Bibliog	Bibliography			

Introduction

Matroids were introduced by Whitney [75] in 1935 and independently by Nakasawa [61] as abstract generalizations of linear independence in vector spaces. In combinatorial optimization, they are important tools for various graph characterization and optimization problems. In many cases matroids not only help to understand the true background of known problems, but they are often unavoidable in solving natural optimization problems in which matroids do not appear explicitly at all.

One of the most powerful results in matroid theory is the min-max theorem and algorithm of Edmonds for finding a common independent set of two matroids with maximum cardinality. Edmonds and Fulkerson gave a min-max formula and algorithm for partitioning the ground set of a matroid into a minimal number of independent sets, and also for finding the maximal number of disjoint bases of a matroid. These results motivate the analogous questions for two matroids on the same ground set: (A) find a partition of the ground set into a minimal number of common independent sets, and (B) find a maximal number of disjoint common bases of two matroids.

The importance of these problems is underpinned by a long list of well-studied conjectures that can be formalized as a packing common bases of matroids. Rota's basis conjecture [35] states that if M is a matroid of rank n whose ground set can be partitioned into n disjoint bases B_1, \ldots, B_n , then it is possible to rearrange the elements of these bases into an $n \times n$ matrix in such a way that the rows are exactly the given bases, and the columns are also bases of M. Woodall's conjecture [77] on packing disjoint dijoins in a directed graph is also a special case of packing common bases, as was shown by Frank and Tardos [23]. Given a directed graph D, a dijoin is a subset of arcs whose contraction results in a strongly connected digraph. The conjecture states that the maximum number of pairwise disjoint dijoins equals the minimum size of a directed cut.

In our joint work [3] with Kristóf Bérczi we showed that problems (A) and (B) are difficult for general matroids, i.e. it requires an exponential number of independence queries in the independence oracle model. These problems remain intractable even for matroids given by explicit linear representations. However, these complexity results motivate the study of tractable special cases and approximation results.

This thesis deals in more details with partitioning the ground set into common independent sets. We denote by $\chi(M)$ the minimum number of independent sets of M needed to cover its ground set, and analogously, $\chi(M_1, M_2)$ is used for the minimum number of common independent sets of M_1 and M_2 covering their common ground set. Davies and McDiarmid [16] showed that $\chi(M_1, M_2) = \max{\chi(M_1), \chi(M_2)}$ holds whenever M_1 and M_2 are so-called strongly bases orderable matroids. Aharoni and Berger [1] proved using topological tools that $\chi(M_1, M_2) \leq 2 \max{\chi(M_1), \chi(M_2)}$ holds for general matroids M_1 and M_2 .

Recently, in [4] we proposed a conjecture with Kristóf Bérczi and Yutaro Yamaguchi, which strengthens the theorem of Aharoni and Berger. The conjecture states that for every loopless matroid $M = (S, \mathcal{I})$ there exists a partition matroid $N = (S, \mathcal{J})$ such that $\mathcal{J} \subseteq \mathcal{I}$ and $\chi(N) \leq 2\chi(M)$. We proved the conjecture for the special case when M is a transversal matroid, a paving matroid, a truncation of a graphic matroid or a gammoid. These special cases also provided new results about a list colouring problem of matroids proposed by Király [42]. Another interesting aspect of this new method is that various elementary colouring problems appear naturally, such as Gallai colourings of complete graphs or colouring the points of a projective plane with three colours such that no line contains all three colours.

The thesis is organized as follows. Chapter 1 introduces basic definitions and notations. Chapter 2 consists most of our complexity results [3]. Chapter 3 presents the result of Davies and McDiarmid [16] about strongly base orderable matroids, the results of Kotlar and Ziv [47] about matroids without (k + 1)-spanned elements and a list of famous conjectures fitting our framework. Chapter 4 is about the theorem of Aharoni and Berger [1] with a detailed overview of the required topological tools. Chapter 5 is a slightly extended version of our paper [4] about reduction of matroids to partition matroids.

Chapter 1

Preliminaries

In this chapter we list some basic elements of matroid theory that will be used later. The reader is referred to books [22, 66, 73] for more details.

1.1 Definitions

A matroid M is a pair (S, \mathcal{I}) where S is the ground set of the matroid and $\mathcal{I} \subseteq 2^S$ is the family of *independent sets* that satisfies the following, so-called *independence axioms*: (I1) $\emptyset \in \mathcal{I}$, (I2) $X \subseteq Y \in \mathcal{I} \Rightarrow X \in \mathcal{I}$, (I3) $X, Y \in \mathcal{I}, |X| < |Y| \Rightarrow \exists e \in Y - X \text{ s.t. } X + e \in \mathcal{I}$. The rank of a set $X \subseteq S$ is the maximum size of an independent subset of X and is denoted by $r_M(X)$.

The maximal independent sets of M are called *bases*. Alternatively, simple properties of bases can be taken as axioms as well. In terms of bases, a matroid M is a pair (S, \mathcal{B}) where $\mathcal{B} \subseteq 2^S$ satisfies the *basis axioms*: (B1) $\mathcal{B} \neq \emptyset$, (B2) for any $B_1, B_2 \in \mathcal{B}$ and $x_1 \in B_1 - B_2$ there exists $x_2 \in B_2 - B_1$ such that $B_1 - x_1 + x_2 \in \mathcal{B}$. Property (B2) is known to be equivalent to the so-called *symmetric basis exchange property*: for any $B_1, B_2 \in \mathcal{B}$ and $x_1 \in B_1 - B_2$ there exists $x_2 \in B_2 - B_1$ such that $B_1 - x_1 + x_2 \in \mathcal{B}$ and $B_2 - x_2 + x_1 \in \mathcal{B}$. The following theorem shows that this property can be strengthened even more.

Theorem 1.1 (Greene [30]). Let B_1 and B_2 be two bases of matroid M. For every $X_1 \subseteq B_1$ there is a subset $X_2 \subseteq B_2$ such that both $B_1 - X_1 + X_2$ and $B_2 - X_2 + X_1$ are bases of M.

A circuit of a matroid is an inclusionwise minimal dependent subset of S. A cut is an inclusionwise minimal subset of S that intersects every basis. The closure or span of a subset $X \subseteq S$ is $\operatorname{span}(X) = \{x \in S : r(X + x) = r(X)\}$. An element $x \in S$ is spanned by X if $x \in \operatorname{span}(X)$. A spanning set or a generator of the matroid is a set $X \subseteq S$ such that $\operatorname{span}(X) = S$. A closed set or a flat is a set $X \subseteq S$ such that $\operatorname{span}(X) = X$. A hyperplane is a closed set of rank r(S) - 1. A loop is an element that is non-independent on its own. Two non-loop elements $e, f \in S$ are parallel if $\{e, f\}$ is non-independent.

Adding a parallel copy of an element $s \in S$ results in a matroid $M' = (S', \mathcal{I}')$ on ground set S' = S + s' where $\mathcal{I}' = \{X \subseteq S' : \text{either } X \in \mathcal{I}, \text{ or } s \notin X, s' \in X \text{ and } X - s' + s \in \mathcal{I}\}$. Given a matroid $M = (S, \mathcal{I})$, its restriction to a subset $S' \subseteq S$ is the matroid $M|_{S'} = (S', \mathcal{I}')$ where $\mathcal{I}' = \{I \in \mathcal{I} : I \subseteq S'\}$. By contracting a subset $Z \subsetneq S$ of the ground set of a matroid M, we get the matroid M/Z on S - Z defined by the rank function $r'(X) = r(X \cup Z) - r(Z)$ ($X \subseteq S - Z$). The dual of M is the matroid $M^* = (S, \mathcal{I}^*)$ where $\mathcal{I}^* = \{X \subseteq S : S - X \text{ contains a basis of } M\}$. The k-truncation of a matroid $M = (S, \mathcal{I})$ is a matroid (S, \mathcal{I}_k) with $\mathcal{I}_k = \{X \in \mathcal{I} : |X| \leq k\}$. We denote the k-truncation of M by $(M)_k$. The direct sum $M_1 \oplus M_2$ of matroids $M_1 = (S_1, \mathcal{I}_1)$ and $M_2 = (S_2, \mathcal{I}_2)$ on disjoint ground sets is the matroid $M = (S_1 \cup S_2, \mathcal{I})$ whose independent

sets are the disjoint unions of an independent set of M_1 and an independent set of M_2 . The sum $M_1 + M_2$ of $M_1 = (S, \mathcal{I}_1)$ and $M_2 = (S, \mathcal{I}_2)$ on the same ground set is the matroid $M = (S, \mathcal{I})$ whose independent sets are the disjoint unions of an independent set of M_1 and an independent set of M_2 . For a matroid $M = (S, \mathcal{I})$ the sum $\sum_{i=1}^{k} M$ is denoted by kM.

For a loopless¹ matroid $M = (S, \mathcal{I})$, let $\chi(M)$ denote the *colouring number* of M, that is, the minimum number of independent sets into which the ground set can be decomposed in M. We call a matroid k-colourable if $\chi(M) \leq k$. Analogously, for two matroids $M_1 = (S, \mathcal{I}_1)$, $M_2 = (S, \mathcal{I}_2)$ on the same ground set, let $\chi(M_1, M_2)$ denote the minimum number of common independent sets needed to cover the ground set.

1.2 Matroid intersection and union

A central result of combinatorial optimization is Edmonds' matroid intersection theorem.

Theorem 1.2 (Edmonds' matroid intersection theorem [17]). Matroids $M_1 = (S, \mathcal{I}_1)$ and $M_2 = (S, \mathcal{I}_2)$ have a common independent set of size k if and only if

$$r_1(X) + r_2(S - X) \ge k$$
 for all $X \subseteq S$.

The following theorem can be derived from the matroid intersection theorem, and vice versa.

Theorem 1.3 (Edmonds' and Fulkerson's matroid union theorem [18]). Let $M_1 = (S, \mathcal{I}_1), \ldots, M_k = (S, \mathcal{I}_k)$ be matroids on the same ground set S. Then the rank function of $M_1 + \cdots + M_k$ is given by

$$r_{M_1+\dots+M_k}(Z) = \min_{X \subseteq Z} \{ |Z - X| + \sum_{i=1}^k r_i(X) \} \quad (Z \subseteq S).$$

As a corollary, we get a characterization of the partitionability of the ground set into k independent sets.

Corollary 1.4. Let $M = (S, \mathcal{I})$ be a matroid with rank function r. Then S can be partitioned into k independent sets if and only if $|X| \leq k \cdot r(X)$ holds for every $X \subseteq S$.

In other words, the colouring number of a matroid $M = (S, \mathcal{I})$ is

$$\chi(M) = \lceil \max\{|X|/r(X) : \emptyset \neq X \subseteq S\} \rceil.$$

Another corollary is a characterization of the existence of k disjoint bases of a matroid.

Corollary 1.5. Let $M = (S, \mathcal{I})$ be a matroid with rank function r. Then M has k pairwise disjoint bases if and only if $|S - X| \ge k \cdot (r(S) - r(X))$ holds for every $X \subseteq S$.

Edmonds and Fulkerson also provided polynomial algorithms for these results, i.e., to find a common independent set of two matroids with maximum size, and to find independent sets $I_j \in M_j$ such that $I_1 \cup \cdots \cup I_k \subseteq Z$ and $|I_1 \cup \cdots \cup I_k| = r_{M_1 + \cdots + M_k}(Z)$. In order to speak about matroid algorithms and their complexity, it should be made clear how the matroids are given. Throughout we assume that a matroid $M = (S, \mathcal{I})$ is given by a so-called *independence oracle*, which is an algorithm testing whether a subset of S is independent in M. A matroid can be given by other oracles as well, for example the *rank oracle* tells the rank of any subset of S. However, the independence and rank oracles are polynomially equivalent, as well as circuit-finding, spanning, port, strong basis and certain closure oracles [63, 33, 13].

¹The ground set of a matroid containing a loop cannot be decomposed into independent sets. Therefore, every matroid considered in the thesis is assumed to be loopless without explicitly mentioning this. Nevertheless, parallel elements might exist.

1.3 Notations from graph theory

Some of the matroids considered in this thesis arise from graphs, hence we list the required graph theoretical definitions and notations.

For a graph G = (V, E) and a subset $X \subseteq V$ of vertices, the set of edges spanned by X is denoted by E[X], while the graph spanned by X is denoted by G[X]. Given a connected component K of G, a *cut* of K is a subset of edges in E[K] whose deletion disconnects K. The component is *k*-edge-connected if the minimum size of a cut in K is at least k. The graphs obtained by deleting a subset $X \subseteq V$ of vertices or a subset $F \subseteq E$ of edges are denoted by G-X and G-F, respectively. The degree of a vertex v with respect to $F \subseteq E$ is denoted by $d_F(v)$. The symmetric difference of two sets P, Q is denoted by $P \triangle Q = (P - Q) \cup (Q - P)$.

Let G = (A, B; E) be a bipartite graph and $F \subseteq E$ be a subset of edges. For a set $X \subseteq A$, the set of neighbours of X with respect to F is denoted by $N_F(X)$, that is, $N_F(X) = \{b \in B :$ there exists an edge $ab \in F$ with $a \in X\}$. We will drop the subscript F when F is the whole edge set. We denote the set of vertices in X incident to edges in F by X(F). A forest (or tree) $F \subseteq E$ is a B_2 -forest (or B_2 -tree, respectively) if $d_F(b) = 2$ for every $b \in B$. The existence of a B_2 -forest was characterized by Lovász [52].

Theorem 1.6 (Lovász). Let G = (A, B; E) be a bipartite graph. Then there exists a B_2 -forest in G if and only if the strong Hall condition holds for every nonempty subset of B, that is,

 $|N(X)| \ge |X| + 1$ for all $\emptyset \ne X \subseteq B$.

1.4 Constructions of matroids

We list several well-known examples of matroids that will be used later.

For a set S, the matroid in which every subset of S is independent is called a *free matroid* and is denoted by M_S^{free} .

A laminar matroid is a matroid $M = (S, \mathcal{I}) = \{X \subseteq S : |X \cap S_i| \leq g_i \text{ for } i = 1, \ldots, q\}$ for a laminar family $\{S_1, \ldots, S_q\}$ of subsets of S and nonnegative integers g_1, \ldots, g_q . (A family $\{S_1, \ldots, S_q\}$ is called *laminar*, if it has now two properly intersecting members, that is, every two members are comparable or disjoint.) An important special case arises when $S = S_1 \cup \cdots \cup S_q$ is a partition and $g_1 = \cdots = g_q = 1$, such matroids are called *partition matroids*. (In the literature partition matroids are usually defined for every g_1, \ldots, g_q , we make the restriction $g_1 = \cdots = g_q = 1$ since all partition matroids considered in this thesis are of this special form.)

A matroid $M = (S, \mathcal{I})$ is called *linear* (or *representable*) if there exists a matrix A over a field \mathbb{F} and a bijection between the columns of A and S, so that $X \subseteq S$ is independent in M if and only if the corresponding columns in A are linearly independent over the field \mathbb{F} . It is not difficult to verify that the class of linear matroids is closed under duality, taking direct sum (when the field \mathbb{F} for linear representations is common), taking minors and taking k-truncation. Moreover, if we apply any of these operations for a matroid (or a pair of matroids) given by a linear representation over a field \mathbb{F} , then a linear representation of the resulting matroid can be determined by using only polynomially many operations over \mathbb{F} . (See e.g. [51] for k-truncation.).

For a graph G = (V, E), the graphic matroid $M = (E, \mathcal{I})$ of G is defined on the edge set by considering a subset $F \subseteq E$ to be independent if it is a forest, that is, $\mathcal{I} = \{F \subseteq E : F \text{ does not contain a cycle}\}$. It is not difficult to verify that graphic matroids are linear over any field. Nash-Williams [60] gave a characterization for G being decomposable into k forests, or in other words, for the graphic matroid of G being k-colourable. **Theorem 1.7** (Nash-Williams). Given a graph G = (V, E), the edge set can be decomposed into k forests if and only if $|E[X]| \le k(|X|-1)$ for every nonempty subset X of V.

Given a bipartite graph G = (S, T; E), a set $X \subseteq S$ is *matchable* if there is a matching of G covering X. The *transversal matroid* of G is the matroid on S whose independent sets are the matchable subsets of S. It is an easy exercise to show that the size of T can be chosen to be r where r denotes the rank of the matroid. By the Frobenius-Kőnig-Hall theorem [46, 31, 24] the rank of a subset $X \subseteq S$ in the transversal matroid is $r(X) = \min\{|X| - |Y| + |N(Y)| : Y \subseteq X\}$.

A generalization of transversal matroids can be obtained with the help of directed graphs. Given a directed graph D = (V, A) and two sets $X, Y \subseteq V$, we say that X is *linked* to Y if |X| = |Y| and there exists |X| vertex-disjoint directed paths from X to Y. Let $S \subseteq V$ be a set of starting vertices and $T \subseteq V$ be a set of destination vertices. Then the family $\mathcal{I} = \{Y \subseteq T : \exists X \subseteq S \text{ s.t. } X \text{ is linked to } Y\}$ forms the independent sets of a matroid that is called a *gammoid*. The gammoid is a *strict gammoid* if T = V. That is, a gammoid is obtained by restricting a strict gammoid to a subset of its elements. Ingleton and Piff [37] showed that strict gammoids are exactly the duals of transversal matroids, hence every gammoid is the restriction of the dual of a transversal matroid.

A matroid $M = (S, \mathcal{I})$ of rank r is called *paving* if every set of size at most r - 1 is independent, or in other words, every circuit of the matroid has size at least r. We will use the following technical statement about paving matroids.

Theorem 1.8. Let $r \ge 2$ be an integer and S a set of size at least r. Let $\mathcal{H} = \{H_1, \ldots, H_q\}$ be a (possibly empty) family of proper subsets of S in which every set H_i has at least r elements and the intersection of any two of them has at most r - 2 elements. Then the set system $\mathcal{B}_{\mathcal{H}} = \{X \subseteq S : |X| = r, X \not\subseteq H_i \text{ for } i = 1, \ldots, q\}$ forms the set of bases of a paving matroid. Moreover, every paving matroid can be obtained in this form.

A paving matroid is called *sparse paving* if its dual is also paving. Note that $\mathcal{B}_{\mathcal{H}}$ forms the set of the bases of a sparse paving matroid if in addition to the previous requirements, we require that each member of \mathcal{H} has size r. The importance of (sparse) paving matroids comes from their large number. It is known that there are double-exponentially many sparse paving matroids on a ground set S, and it is conjectured that the asymptotic fraction of matroids on n elements that are sparse paving tends to 1 as n tends to infinity [57]. A similar statement on the asymptotic ratio of the logarithms of the numbers of matroids and sparse paving matroids has been proven in [62].

Chapter 2

Complexity results

This chapter contains two sections of our joint work with Kristóf Bérczi [3].

2.1 Hardness in the independence oracle model

Given two matroids $M_1 = (S, \mathcal{I}_1)$ and $M_2 = (S, \mathcal{I}_2)$, there are three different problems that can be asked: (A) Can S be partitioned into k common independent sets of M_1 and M_2 ? (B) Does S contain k disjoint common bases of M_1 and M_2 ? (C) Does S contain k disjoint common spanning sets of M_1 and M_2 ? These problems may seem to be closely related, and (A) and (B) are indeed in a strong connection, but (C) is actually substantially different from the others. We will concentrate on the following problem which is a special case of all three problems.

Definition 2.1. The PARTITIONINTOCOMMONBASES problem is the following: Given matroids $M_1 = (S, \mathcal{I}_1)$ and $M_2 = (S, \mathcal{I}_2)$, find a partition of S into common bases.

We show that PARTITIONINTOCOMMONBASES is difficult under the rank oracle model. This immediately implies the all (A), (B) and (C) are intractable as well. We prove the difficulty of PARTITIONINTOCOMMONBASES by a reduction from the so-called PARTITIONINTOMODULAR-BASES problem.

Definition 2.2. Let $M = (S, \mathcal{I})$ be a matroid and let \mathcal{P} be a partition of the ground set into nonempty subsets. Members of \mathcal{P} are called *modules*, and a set $X \subseteq S$ is *modular* if it is the union of modules. In the special case when every module is a pair, modular sets are called *parity sets*.

The PARTITIONINTOMODULARBASES problem is as follows: Given a matroid $M = (S, \mathcal{I})$ over a ground set S of size 2r(S) together with a partition \mathcal{P} of S, find a partition of S into two modular bases. In the special case when every module is a pair, we refer to the problem as PARTITIONINTOPARITYBASES.

The latter problem is the packing counterpart of the matroid parity problem which asks for a parity independent set of maximum size. This problem was introduced by Lawler [49] as a common generalization of graph matching and matroid intersection. Unfortunately, matroid parity is intractable for general matroids as it includes NP-hard problems, and requires an exponential number of queries if the matroid is given by an independence oracle [38, 53]. On the positive side, for linear matroids, Lovász developed a polynomial time algorithm [53] that is applicable if a linear representation is available. Although PARTITIONINTOPARITYBASES seems to be closely related to matroid parity, the relationship between the two problems is unclear.



Figure 2.1: The edge-labeled graphs defining M'_{ℓ} and M''_{ℓ} .

Theorem 2.3. The PARTITIONINTOPARITYBASES problem requires an exponential number of independence queries.

Proof. Let S be a finite set of 4t elements and let \mathcal{P} be an arbitrary partition of S into 2t pairs, forming the modules. Let $\mathcal{H} = \{X \subseteq S : |X| = 2t, X \text{ is a parity set}\}$. For a parity set X_0 with $|X_0| = 2t$, define $\mathcal{H}_0 = \mathcal{H} - \{X_0, S - X_0\}$. Both \mathcal{H} and \mathcal{H}_0 satisfy the conditions of Theorem 1.8, hence $\mathcal{B}_{\mathcal{H}}$ and $\mathcal{B}_{\mathcal{H}_0}$ define two matroids M and M_0 , respectively.

Clearly, the ground set cannot be partitioned into parity bases of M, while $X_0 \cup (S - X_0)$ is such a partition for M_0 . For any sequence of independence queries which does not include X_0 or $S - X_0$, the result of those oracle calls are the same for M and M_0 . That is, any sequence of queries which does not include at least one of the parity subsets X_0 or $S - X_0$ cannot distinguish between M and M_0 , concluding the proof of the theorem.

We will use the following technical lemma to prove the difficulty of PARTITIONINTOCOM-MONBASES.

Lemma 2.4. Let $\ell \in \mathbb{Z}_+$ and let S be a ground set of size 9ℓ . There exist two matroids M'_{ℓ} and M''_{ℓ} of rank 5ℓ satisfying the following conditions:

- (a) S can be partitioned into two common independent sets of M'_{ℓ} and M''_{ℓ} having sizes 5ℓ and 4ℓ ;
- (b) for every partition $S = S_1 \cup S_2$ into two common independent sets of M'_{ℓ} and M''_{ℓ} , we have $\{|S_1|, |S_2|\} = \{5\ell, 4\ell\}$, that is, one of the partition classes has size exactly 5ℓ while the other has size exactly 4ℓ .

Proof. Let $S = \bigcup_{j=1}^{\ell} W_j$ denote a ground set of size 9ℓ where $W_j = \{a_j, b_j, c_j, d_j, e_j, f_j, g_j, h_j, i_j\}$. Let M'_{ℓ} and M''_{ℓ} denote the graphic matroids defined by the edge-labeled graphs G' and G'' on Figures 2.1a and 2.1b, respectively. We first prove (a).

Claim 2.5. S can be partitioned into two common independent sets of M'_{ℓ} and M''_{ℓ} having sizes 5ℓ and 4ℓ .

Proof. It is not difficult to find a partition satisfying the conditions of the claim, for example, $S = S_1 \cup S_2$ where $S_1 = \bigcup_{j=1}^{\ell} \{d_j, e_j, f_j, g_j, h_j\}$ and $S_2 = \bigcup_{j=1}^{\ell} \{a_j, b_j, c_j, i_j\}$.

In order to verify (b), take an arbitrary partition $S = S_1 \cup S_2$ into common independent sets of M'_{ℓ} and M''_{ℓ} . Let $\hat{W}_j = W_j - i_j$.

Claim 2.6. For each $j = 1, ..., \ell$, S_1 and S_2 partition W_j into common independent sets having sizes 5 and 3. Moreover, the elements e_j, f_j, g_j and h_j are contained in the same partition class.

Proof. S_1 and S_2 necessarily partition the K_4 subgraphs spanned by \hat{W}_j in G' and G'' into two paths of length 3, so $|S_k \cap \{a_j, b_j, c_j, d_j, e_j, f_j\}| = 3$ and $|S_k \cap \{a_j, b_j, c_j, d_j, g_j, h_j\}| = 3$ for k = 1, 2. This implies that either $|S_k \cap \{e_j, f_j\}| = |S_k \cap \{g_j, h_j\}| = 1$ for k = 1, 2, or e_j, f_j, g_j and h_j are contained in the same partition class.

In the former case, we may assume that $g_j \in S_1$ and $h_j \in S_2$. In order to partition the K_4 subgraph spanned by \hat{W}_j in G'' into two paths of length 3, either $\{a_j, b_j\} \subseteq S_1$ and $\{c_j, d_j\} \subseteq S_2$ or $\{c_j, d_j\} \subseteq S_1$ and $\{a_j, b_j\} \subseteq S_2$ hold. However, these sets cannot be extended to two paths of length 3 in G', a contradiction.

Thus e_j, f_j, g_j and h_j are contained in the same partition class. Since $|S_k \cap \{a_j, b_j, c_j, d_j, e_j, f_j\}| = 3$ for k = 1, 2, the claim follows.

Now we analyze how the presence of edges i_j affect the sizes of the partition classes. By Claim 2.6, we may assume that $\{e_1, f_1, g_1, h_1\} \subseteq S_1$, and so $i_{\ell} \in S_2$.

Claim 2.7. $\{e_j, f_j, g_j, h_j\} \subseteq S_1 \text{ and } i_j \in S_2 \text{ for } j = 1, ..., \ell.$

Proof. We prove by induction on j. By assumption, the claim holds for j = 1. Assume that the statement is true for j. As i_j is parallel to f_{j+1} in G'', $f_{j+1} \in S_1$. By Claim 2.6, $\{e_{j+1}, f_{j+1}, g_{j+1}, h_{j+1}\} \subseteq S_1$. As i_{j+1} is parallel to h_{j+1} in G', necessarily $i_{j+1} \in S_2$, proving the inductive step.

Claims 2.6 and 2.7 imply that $|S_1| = 5\ell$ while $|S_2| = 4\ell$, concluding the proof of the lemma.

It should be emphasized that, for our purposes, any pair of matroids satisfying the conditions of Lemma 2.4 would be suitable; we defined a specific pair, but there are several other choices that one could work with.

We are now in the position to prove the main result of this chapter.

Theorem 2.8. The PARTITIONINTOCOMMONBASES problem requires an exponential number of independence queries.

Proof. We prove by reduction from PARTITIONINTOMODULARBASES.¹ Let $M = (S, \mathcal{I})$ be a matroid together with a partition \mathcal{P} of its ground set into modules. Recall that |S| = 2r(S), that is, the goal is to partition the ground set into two modular bases.

We define two matroids as follows. For every set $P \in \mathcal{P}$, let $M'_P = (S_P, \mathcal{I}'_P)$ and $M''_P = (S_P, \mathcal{I}'_P)$ be copies of the matroids $M'_{|P|}$ and $M''_{|P|}$ provided by Lemma 2.4. We denote

$$S' = S \cup \left(\bigcup_{P \in \mathcal{P}} S_P\right).$$

¹By Theorem 2.3, we could assume that every module has size 2. However, our construction in Section 2.2 for proving that the linear case is already difficult uses modules of larger sizes, hence we show reduction from the general version of PARTITIONINTOMODULARBASES.

Note that |S'| = 10|S|, that is, the size of the new ground set is linear in that of the original. Let

$$M_1 = \left(M \oplus \left(\bigoplus_{P \in \mathcal{P}} M'_P \right) \right)_{\frac{|S'|}{2}}$$
$$M_2 = \bigoplus_{P \in \mathcal{P}} (M_P^{free} \oplus M''_P)_{5|P|}.$$

 M_1 is defined as the |S'|/2-truncation of the direct sum of M and the matroids M'_P for $P \in \mathcal{P}$. For the other matroid, we first take the 5|P|-truncation of the direct sum of M''_P and the free matroid M_P^{free} on P for each $P \in \mathcal{P}$, and then define M_2 as the direct sum of these matroids. We first determine the ranks of M_1 and M_2 .

Claim 2.9. Both M_1 and M_2 have rank |S'|/2.

Proof. The rank of M_1 is clearly at most |S'|/2 as it is obtained by taking the |S'|/2-truncation of a matroid. Hence, it suffices to show that $M \oplus (\bigoplus_{P \in \mathcal{P}} M'_P)$ has an independent set of size at least |S'|/2. For each $P \in \mathcal{P}$, let B_P be a basis of M'_P . Then $\bigcup_{P \in \mathcal{P}} B_P$ is an independent set of M_1 having size $\sum_{P \in \mathcal{P}} 5|P| = 5|S| = |S'|/2$ as requested.

The rank of $(M_P^{free} \oplus M_P'')_{5|P|}$ is 5|P| for each $P \in \mathcal{P}$. This implies that the rank of M_2 is at most $\sum_{P \in \mathcal{P}} 5|P| = 5|S| = |S'|/2$. We get an independent set of that size by taking a basis B_P of M_P'' for each $P \in \mathcal{P}$, and then taking their union $\bigcup_{P \in \mathcal{P}} B_P$.

The main ingredient of the proof is the following.

Claim 2.10. If $S' = B'_1 \cup B'_2$ is a partition of S' into two common bases of M_1 and M_2 , then each module $P \in \mathcal{P}$ is contained completely either in B'_1 or in B'_2 .

Proof. For an arbitrary module P, let $I_1 = S_P \cap B'_1$ and $I_2 = S_P \cap B'_2$. Clearly, I_1 and I_2 are independent in both M'_P and M''_P . By Lemma 2.4, we may assume that $|I_1| = 4|P|$ and $|I_2| = 5|P|$. As the rank of $(M_P^{free} \oplus M''_P)_{5|P|}$ is 5|P|, we get $P \subseteq B'_1$ as requested.

The next claim concludes the proof of the theorem.

Claim 2.11. S has a partition into two modular bases if and only if S' can be partitioned into two common bases of M_1 and M_2 .

Proof. For the forward direction, assume that there exists a partition $S' = B'_1 \cup B'_2$ of S' into two common bases of M_1 and M_2 . By Claim 2.10, for every module $P \in \mathcal{P}$, the elements of Pare all contained either in B_1 or in B_2 . This implies that $B_1 = S \cap B'_1$ and $B_2 = S \cap B'_2$ are modular sets. By the definition of M_1 , these sets are independent in M. As |S| = 2r(S), B_1 and B_2 are modular bases of M.

To see the backward direction, let $S = B_1 \cup B_2$ be a partition of S into modular bases. For each $P \in \mathcal{P}$, let $I_P^1 \cup I_P^2$ be a partition of S_P into common independent sets of M'_P and M''_P having sizes 4|P| and 5|P|, respectively. Recall that such a partition exists by Lemma 2.4. Then the sets

$$B'_{1} = B_{1} \cup \{I_{P}^{1} : P \subseteq B_{1}\} \cup \{I_{P}^{2} : P \subseteq B_{2}\} \quad \text{and} \\ B'_{2} = B_{2} \cup \{I_{P}^{1} : P \subseteq B_{2}\} \cup \{I_{P}^{2} : P \subseteq B_{1}\}$$

form common independent sets of M_1 and M_2 and partitions the ground set S'. By Claim 2.9, B'_1 and B'_2 are bases, concluding the proof of the claim.



Figure 2.2: Examples for variable gadgets.

The theorem follows by Claim 2.11.

2.2 Hardness in the linear case

The aim of this section is to show that the PARTITIONINTOMODULARBASES problem might be difficult to solve even when the matroid is given with a concise description, namely by an explicit linear representation over a field in which the field operations can be done efficiently. In order to do so, we consider the PARTITIONINTOMODULARBASES problem for graphic matroids, which can be rephrased as follows.

Definition 2.12. The PARTITIONINTOMODULARTREES problem is the following: Given a graph G = (V, E) and a partition \mathcal{P} of its edge set, find a partition of E into two spanning trees consisting of partition classes.

Theorem 2.13. PARTITIONINTOMODULARTREES is NP-complete.

Proof. We prove by reduction from Not-All-Equal Satisfiability, abbreviated as NAE-SAT: Given a CNF formula, decide if there exists a truth assignment not setting all literals equally in any clause. It is known that NAE-SAT is NP-complete, see [64].²

Let $\Phi = (U, C)$ be an instance of NAE-SAT where $U = \{x_1, \ldots, x_n\}$ is the set of variables and $C = \{C_1, \ldots, C_m\}$ is the set of clauses. We construct an undirected graph G = (V, E) as follows. We may assume that no clause contains a variable and its negation simultaneously, as for such a clause every assignment has a true value and no assignment sets all literals equally.

First we construct the variable gadget. Let H[p,q] denote an undirected graph on node set $\{s,t\}\cup\{u_i,w_i:i=1,\ldots,p\}\cup\{v_j,z_j:j=1,\ldots,q\}$ consisting of the two paths su_1,u_1u_2,\ldots,u_pt and sv_1,v_1v_2,\ldots,v_qt , together with edges u_iw_i for $i=1,\ldots,p$ and v_jz_j for $j=1,\ldots,q$. If any of p or q is 0, then the corresponding path simplifies to a single edge st (see Figure 2.2).

We construct an undirected graph G = (V, E) as follows. With each variable x_j , we associate a copy of $H[p_j, q_j]$ where the literal x_j occurs p_j times and the literal \bar{x}_j occurs q_j times in the clauses. These components are connected together by identifying t^j with s^{j+1} for $j = 1, \ldots, n-1$. We apply the notational convention that in the gadget corresponding to a variable x_j , we add j as an upper index for all of the nodes. For a variable x_j , the ordering of the clauses naturally induces an ordering of the occurrences of x_j and \bar{x}_j . For every clause C_i , we do the following.

²In [65], Schmidt proved that NAE-SAT remains NP-complete when restricted to the class LCNF_{+}^3 , that is, for monotone, linear and 3-regular formulas. Although the construction appearing in our reduction could be slightly simplified based on this observation, we stick to the case of NAE-SAT as it appears to be a more natural problem.



Figure 2.3: The graph corresponding to $\Phi = (x_1 \lor x_2 \lor x_3) \land (x_1 \lor x_3) \land (\bar{x}_1 \lor x_2 \lor \bar{x}_4)$. Thick and normal edges form modular spanning trees T_1 and T_2 , respectively. Both the assignment $x_1 = x_3 = 1$, $x_2 = x_4 = 0$ corresponding to T_1 and the assignment $x_1 = x_3 = 0$, $x_2 = x_4 = 1$ corresponding to T_2 are solutions for NAE-SAT.

Assume that C_i involves variables $x_{j_1}, \ldots, x_{j_\ell}$. Recall that no clause contains a variable and its negation simultaneously, hence ℓ is also the number of literals appearing in C_i . If C_i contains the literal x_{j_k} and this is the *r*th occurrence of the literal x_{j_k} with respect to the ordering of the clauses, let $y_{j_k}^i := w_r^{j_k}$. If C_i contains the literal \bar{x}_{j_k} and this is the *r*th occurrence of the literal \bar{x}_{j_k} and this is the *r*th occurrence of the literal \bar{x}_{j_k} with respect to the ordering of the clauses, let $y_{j_1}^i, \ldots, y_{j_\ell}^i$ to the ordering of the clauses, let $y_{j_k}^i := z_r^{j_k}$. Then we add the edges of the cycle $y_{j_1}^i, \ldots, y_{j_\ell}^i$ to the graph. Finally, we close the construction by adding edges $t^n w_k^j$ for $j = 1, \ldots, n, k = 1, \ldots, p_j$, and adding edges $t^n z_k^j$ for $j = 1, \ldots, n, k = 1, \ldots, q_j$ (see Figure 2.3). An easy computation shows that the number of edges is $|E| = 2|U| + 4\sum_{C \in \mathcal{C}} |C|$, while the number of nodes is $|V| = |U| + 2\sum_{C \in \mathcal{C}} |C| + 1$, that is, |E| = 2|V| - 2.

Now we partition the edge set of G into modules. For every variable x_j , if $p_j > 0$ then the path $P_j = \{s^j u_1^j, u_1^j u_2^j, \ldots, u_{p_j}^j t^j\}$ form a module. Similarly, if $q_j > 0$ then the path $N_j = \{s^j v_1^j, v_1^j v_2^j, \ldots, v_{q_j}^j t^j\}$ form a module. Finally, the pairs $M_k^j = \{u_k^j w_k^j, w_k^j t_n\}$ form modules of size two for $k = 1, \ldots, p_j$, and similarly, the pairs $N_k^j = \{v_k^j z_k^j, z_k^j t_n\}$ form modules of size two for $k = 1, \ldots, q_j$. All the remaining edges of G form modules consisting of a single element.

We claim that Φ has a truth assignment not setting all literals equally in any clause if and only if G can be partitioned into two modular spanning trees. For the forward direction, let $E = T_1 \cup T_2$ be a partition of E into two modular spanning trees. Then

$$\varphi(x_j) = \begin{cases} 1 & \text{if } p_j > 0 \text{ and } P_j \subseteq T_1, \text{ or } p_j = 0 \text{ and } s^j t^j \in T_1, \\ 0 & \text{otherwise.} \end{cases}$$

is a truth assignment not setting all literals equally in any clause. To verify this, observe that for a variable x_j , if $x_j = 1$ then $M_k^j \subseteq T_2$ for $k = 1, \ldots, p_j$. This follows from the fact that T_2 has to span the node u_k^j and $\{u_k^j w_k^j, w_k^j t_n\}$ form a module for $k = 1, \ldots, p_j$. Similarly, if $x_j = 0$ then $N_k^j \subseteq T_2$ for $k = 1, \ldots, q_j$. Let now C_i be a clause involving variables $x_{j_1}, \ldots, x_{j_\ell}$ and recall the definition of $y_{j_1}^i, \ldots, y_{j_\ell}^i$. If all the literals in C_i has true value then, by the above observation, the cycle $y_{j_1}^i, \ldots, y_{j_\ell}^i$ has to lie completely in T_1 , a contradiction. If all the literals in C_i has false value then, again by the above observation, the cycle $y_{j_1}^i, \ldots, y_{j_\ell}^i$ has to lie completely in T_2 , a contradiction. A similar reasoning shows that T_2 also defines a truth assignment not setting all literals equally in any clause.

To see the backward direction, consider a truth assignment φ of Φ not setting all literals equally in any clause. We define the edges of T_1 as follows. For each variable x_j with $\varphi(x_j) = 1$, we add P_j and N_k^j for $k = 1, \ldots, q_j$ to T_1 . For each variable x_j with $\varphi(x_j) = 0$, we add N_j and M_k^j for $k = 1, \ldots, p_j$ to T_1 . Finally, for each clause C_i involving variables $x_{j_1}, \ldots, x_{j_\ell}$ do the following: for $k = 1, \ldots, \ell$, if C_i contains the literal x_{j_k} and $\varphi(x_{j_k}) = 1$ or C_i contains the literal \bar{x}_{j_k} and $\varphi(x_{j_k}) = 0$, then add the edge $y_{j_k}^i y_{j_{k-1}}^j$ to T_1 (indices are meant in a cyclic order). By the assumption that φ does not set all literals equally in any clause, this last step will not form cycles in T_1 . It is not difficult to see that both T_1 and its complement T_2 are modular spanning trees, thus concluding the proof of the theorem.

As a consequence, we got the following.

Theorem 2.14. PARTITIONINTOCOMMONBASES includes NP-complete problems.

Proof. The proof of Theorem 2.8 shows that PARTITIONINTOMODULARBASES can be reduced to PARTITIONINTOCOMMONBASES. As PARTITIONINTOMODULARTREEs is a special case of the former problem, the theorem follows by Theorem 2.13. \Box

As the matroids M'_{ℓ}, M''_{ℓ} given in the proof of Lemma 2.4 are graphic, they are linear. If we apply the reduction described in the proof of Theorem 2.8 for a graphic matroid M, then the matroids M_1 and M_2 can be obtained from graphic matroids by using direct sums and truncations, hence they are linear as well and an explicit linear representation can be given in polynomial time [51]. This in turn implies that PARTITIONINTOCOMMONBASES is difficult even when both matroids are given by explicit linear representations.

Harvey, Király and Lau [32] showed that the computational problem of common base packing reduces to the special case where one of the matroids is a partition matroid. Their construction involves the direct sum of M_1 and the matroid obtained from the dual of M_2 by replacing each element by k parallel elements. This means that if both M_1 and M_2 are linear, then the common base packing problem reduces to the special case where one of the matroids is a partition matroid and the other one is linear. Concluding these observations, we get the following.

Corollary 2.15. The PARTITIONINTOCOMMONBASES problem includes NP-complete problems even when r(S) = 2|S|, one of the matroids is a partition matroid and the other is a linear matroid given by an explicit linear representation.

In [3] we also showed that PARTITIONINTOPARITYBASES includes NP-complete problems even when restricted to transversal matroids given by a bipartite graph representation. However, one of the simplest cases when one of the matroids is a partition matroid while the other one is graphic remains open.

Chapter 3

Interesting special cases

Let $M_1 = (S, \mathcal{I}_1)$ and $M_2 = (S, \mathcal{I}_2)$ be partition matroids defined by partitions $S_1 \cup \cdots \cup S_q$ and $T_1 \cup \cdots \cup T_s$. Consider the bipartite graph G = (A, B; E) where $A = \{a_1, \ldots, a_q\}$, $B = \{b_1, \ldots, b_s\}$ and the number of edges between a_i and b_j is $|S_i \cap T_j|$. Then an edge of G corresponds to an element of S, and a matching of G correspond to a common independent sets of M_1 and M_2 . The classical result of Kőnig [46] states that the edge colouring number of a bipartite graph equals to its maximum degree. In matroidal terms this translates to $\chi(M_1, M_2) = \max{\chi(M_1), \chi(M_2)}$. In this chapter we present other pairs of matroids with this property.

3.1 Strongly base orderable matroids

The following definition requires a stronger basis exchange property than what Theorem 1.1 guarantees.

Definition 3.1. A matroid $M = (S, \mathcal{I})$ is strongly base orderable if for every two bases B_1, B_2 there is a bijection $f: B_1 \to B_2$ with the property that $B_1 - X + f(X)$ is a basis for any $X \subseteq B_1$.

If f satisfies this definition, then $B_2 - f(X) + X = B_1 - (B_1 - X) + f(B_1 - X)$ is also a basis for every $X \subseteq B_1$. It also follows that $f^{-1} : B_2 \to B_1$ is a bijection between B_2 and B_1 with the required property. Notice that f is necessarily identical on $B_1 \cap B_2$. Indeed, let $x \in B_1 \cap B_2$, then $B_2 - f(x) + x$ is a basis, in particular, $|B_2 - f(x) + x| = |B_2|$. Since x and f(x) are elements of B_2 , we get that x = f(x).

One can easily check that the graphic matroid of K_4 is not strongly base orderable. However, we show that each gammoid is strongly base orderable.

Proposition 3.2. The family of strongly base orderable matroids is closed for restrictions, contractions and duals.

Proof. Let $M = (S, \mathcal{I})$ be a strongly base orderable matroid and $X \subseteq S$. First we prove that the contraction M/X is strongly base orderable. Let B_1, B_2 be bases of M/X. Let $Y \subseteq X$ be an independent set of M of size r(X), then $B_1 \cup Y$ and $B_2 \cup Y$ are bases of M. Restricting the bijection $B_1 \cup Y \to B_2 \cup Y$ which the strongly base orderability of M guarantees, we get a bijection $B_1 \to B_2$ proving the strongly base orderability of M.

Now we prove that the dual M^* is strongly base orderable. Let B_1, B_2 be bases of M. Then $S - B_1$ and $S - B_2$ are bases of M, hence there exists a bijection $f: S - B_1 \to S - B_2$ such that $S - B_1 - X + f(X)$ is a basis of M for $X \subseteq S - B_1$. Thus, $B_1 + X - f(X) = B_2 - X + f(X)$ is a

basis of M^* for $X \subseteq B_2 - B_1$, hence restricting f to $B_2 - B_1$ we get a bijection $B_2 - B_1 \rightarrow B_1 - B_2$ which proves that M^* is strongly base orderable.

Finally, the strongly base orderability of the restriction $M|_X$ follows from $M|_X = (M^*/X)^*$ and the two previous results.

One can show that the family of strongly base orderable matroids is also closed for the other matroid operations we defined in Section 1.1: adding parallel copies of an element, k-truncations, direct sums and sums.

The next theorem provides a large family of strongly base orderable matroids.

Theorem 3.3. [9] Every gammoid is strongly base orderable.

Proof. As gammoids are the restrictions of strict gammoids, and strict gammoids are the duals of transversal matroids, it is enough to show that each transversal matroid is strongly base orderable. Let $M = (S, \mathcal{I})$ be a transversal matroid and G = (S, T; E) be a bipartite graph such that |T| = r(S). Let $B_1, B_2 \subseteq S$ be two bases of M, then there exists matchings $F_1, F_2 \subseteq E$ covering B_1 and B_2 , respectively. Since |T| = r(S), both matchings cover T. Then $F_1 \cup F_2$ consists of alternating cycles and alternating paths, and each alternating path is between a vertex in $B_1 - B_2$ and a vertex in $B_2 - B_1$. These alternating paths define a bijection f between $B_1 - B_2$ and $B_2 - B_1$, and (letting f be identity on $B_1 \cap B_2$) it is not difficult to check that $B_1 - X + f(X)$ is a basis of M for every $X \subseteq B_1$.

It is worth mentioning that the class of gammoids is also closed for matroid operations such as taking restrictions, contractions, duals, direct sums and k-truncations. Nevertheless, it is not difficult to show that the converse of Theorem 3.3 does not hold, e.g. there exists a matroid on seven elements which is strongly base orderable but not a gammoid [36].

As partition matroids are strongly base orderable, the next result generalizes Kőnig's edge colouring theorem to a much larger class of matroids.

Theorem 3.4 (Davies and McDiarmid [16]). Let $M_1 = (S, \mathcal{I}_1)$ and $M_2 = (S, \mathcal{I}_2)$ be k-colourable strongly base orderable matroids. Then S can be partitioned into k common independent sets.

Proof [66]. Suppose for contradiction that S cannot be decomposed into k common independent sets. Let $S = X_1 \cup \cdots \cup X_k$ and $S = Y_1 \cup \cdots \cup Y_k$ be partitions of the ground set into independent sets of M_1 and M_2 , respectively, such that $|X_1 \cap Y_1| + \cdots + |X_k \cap Y_k|$ is maximal. By our assumption, the two partitions are different, hence there are indices $i \neq j$ such that $X_i \cap Y_j$ is nonempty. Let $X_i \subseteq C_i, X_j \subseteq C_j$ be bases of M_1 and $Y_i \subseteq D_i, Y_j \subseteq D_j$ bases of M_2 . Let $f: C_i \to C_j$ and $g: D_i \to D_j$ be exchange bijections guaranteed by the strongly base orderability of M_1 and M_2 . Consider the graph $G = (C_i \cup C_j \cup D_i \cup D_j, E)$ with edge set

$$E = \{ \{x, f(x)\} : x \in C_i \setminus C_j \} \cup \{ \{y, g(y)\} : y \in D_i \setminus D_j \}.$$

E is the union of two matchings, hence G is bipartite. Let A and B denote the two colour classes of G, and consider the sets

$$X'_i = (X_i \cup X_j) \cap A, \quad X'_j = (X_i \cup X_j) \cap B,$$

$$Y'_i = (Y_i \cup Y_j) \cap A, \quad Y'_i = (Y_i \cup Y_j) \cap B.$$

We prove that $X'_i, X'_j \in \mathcal{I}_1$ and $Y'_i, Y'_j \in \mathcal{I}_2$. We have

$$X'_i \subseteq (C_i \cup C_j) \cap A = C_i - (C_i \setminus C_j) \cap B + (C_j \setminus C_i) \cap A.$$

For $x \in (C_i \setminus C_j) \cap B$, $\{x, f(x)\}$ is an edge of G, hence $f(x) \in (C_j \setminus C_i) \cap A$. Similarly, $f^{-1}(y) \in (C_i \setminus C_j) \cap A$ for $y \in (C_j \setminus C_i) \cap A$, hence $f((C_i \setminus C_j) \cap B) = (C_j \setminus C_i) \cap A$. Then $(C_i \cup C_j) \cap A = C_i - (C_i \setminus C_j) \cap B + f((C_i \setminus C_j) \cap B)$ is a basis of M_1 , hence $X'_i \in \mathcal{I}_1$. $X'_j \in \mathcal{I}_1$ and $Y'_i, Y'_i \in \mathcal{I}_2$ follow by symmetry.

Since $X'_i \cup X'_j = X_i \cup X_j$ and $X'_i \cap X'_j = \emptyset$, we get a partition of S into independent sets of M_1 by replacing X_i with X'_i , and X_j with X'_j . Similarly, we get a new partition of S into independent sets of M_2 by replacing Y_i with Y'_i , and Y_j with Y'_j . The maximality of $|X_1 \cap Y_1| + \cdots + |X_k \cap Y_k|$ implies that

$$\begin{aligned} |X_i \cap Y_i| + |X_j \cap Y_j| &\ge |X'_i \cap Y'_i| + |X'_j \cap Y'_j| = |(X'_i \cup X'_j) \cap (Y'_i \cup Y'_j)| \\ &= |(X_i \cup Y_i) \cap (X_j \cup Y_j)| = |X_i \cap Y_i| + |X_j \cap Y_j| + |X_i \cap Y_j| + |X_j \cap Y_i|, \end{aligned}$$

using that $X'_i \cap Y'_j = \emptyset$ and $X'_j \cap Y'_i = \emptyset$. This contradicts that $X_i \cap Y_j$ is nonempty. \Box

The proof also shows a polynomial algorithm to find a required partition given a polynomial algorithm to find exchange bijections.

3.2 Matroids without (k+1)-spanned elements

We present the results of Kotlar and Ziv [47] about matroids without (k + 1)-spanned elements.

Definition 3.5. An element $x \in S$ is (k + 1)-spanned in a matroid $M = (S, \mathcal{I})$ if x has k + 1 disjoint spanning sets.

As one of the sets can be $\{x\}$, we get that the following are equivalent: (i) x is (k + 1)-spanned; (ii) there exists k disjoint subsets of S - x that span x; (iii) there exists k circuits of M whose pairwise intersection is $\{x\}$.

Proposition 3.6. If no element of a matroid $M = (S, \mathcal{I})$ is (k + 1)-spanned, then M is k-colourable.

Proof. We prove by induction on |S|. If $|S| \ge 2$, then choose an arbitrary element $x \in S$. $M|_{S-x}$ is k-colourable by the induction hypothesis, that is, there exist independent sets X_1, \ldots, X_k such that $X_1 \cup \cdots \cup X_k = S - x$. As x is not (k+1)-spanned in M, x is not spanned by X_i for some i. We get a k-colouring of M by adding x to X_i .

The converse of this statement is not true: every element of the graphic matroid of K_{2k} is (2k-1)-spanned and the matroid is k-colourable. However, it is easy to check that the converse holds for partition matroids, that is, a k-colourable partition matroid does not contain any (k+1)-spanned element. Therefore, the following conjecture generalizes Kőnig's edge colouring theorem.

Conjecture 3.7. Let $M_1 = (S, \mathcal{I}_1)$ and $M_2 = (S, \mathcal{I}_2)$ be two matroids on S. If no element of S is (k + 1)-spanned in either M_1 or M_2 , then S can be partitioned into k common independent sets.

In the following regular case the conjecture is a consequence of the theorems of Section 1.2.

Theorem 3.8. Let $M_1 = (S, \mathcal{I}_1)$ and $M_2 = (S, \mathcal{I}_2)$ be matroids of common rank $r_1(S) = r_2(S) = r$ such that |S| = kr. If no element of S is (k + 1)-spanned in either M_1 or M_2 , the S can be partitioned into k common independent sets.

Proof. We prove by induction on k, the statement is trivial for k = 1. M_1 and M_2 are kcolourable by Proposition 3.6, hence assumption |S| = kr implies that S is the union of kdisjoint bases in either M_1 or M_2 . Applying Corollary 1.5 to M_1 and Corollary 1.4 to M_2 we
get that

$$r \le r_1(S) + \frac{|S - X|}{k} \le r_1(S) + r_2(S - X) \quad (X \subseteq S),$$

hence M_1 and M_2 have a common basis B by Theorem 1.2. B spans every element of S - B, hence the restriction of matroids M_1 and M_2 to S - B does not contain any k-spanned element. By the induction hypothesis S - B can be partitioned into k - 1 common bases of M_1 and M_2 , thus adding B to the partition we get a partition of S into k common bases.

Kotlar and Ziv also proved their conjecture for the special case k = 2.

Theorem 3.9. Let $M_1 = (S, \mathcal{I}_1)$ and $M_2 = (S, \mathcal{I}_2)$ be two matroids on S. If no element of S is 3-spanned in either M_1 or M_2 , then S can be partitioned into 2 common independent sets.

Proof. We will rely on the following lemma.

Lemma 3.10. Let $A, B \subseteq S$ be disjoint common independent sets of M_1 and M_2 such that $|A \cup B|$ is maximal. Then for every $x \notin A \cup B$

$$A + x \in \mathcal{I}_1 \setminus \mathcal{I}_2, \ B + x \in \mathcal{I}_2 \setminus \mathcal{I}_1 \quad or \quad A + x \in \mathcal{I}_2 \setminus \mathcal{I}_1, \ B + x \in \mathcal{I}_1 \setminus \mathcal{I}_2.$$

Proof. As $|A \cup B|$ is maximal, $A + x, B + x \notin \mathcal{I}_1 \cap \mathcal{I}_2$ as otherwise A + x and B, or A and B + x would be common independent sets. Suppose that $A + x \notin \mathcal{I}_j$. Then A spans x in M_j , and since x is not 3-spanned, we get that B does not span x in M_j , that is, $B + x \in \mathcal{I}_j$. As $B + x \notin \mathcal{I}_1 \cap \mathcal{I}_2$, we get that $A + x \in \mathcal{I}_1 \cup \mathcal{I}_2$. Thus, we may assume that $A + x \in \mathcal{I}_1 \setminus \mathcal{I}_2$, then $B + x \in \mathcal{I}_2$ by the previous argument. Since $B \notin \mathcal{I}_1 \cap \mathcal{I}_2$, we get that $B + x \in \mathcal{I}_2 \setminus \mathcal{I}_1$. \Box

Let A and B as in the lemma, and suppose for contradiction that $A \cup B \neq S$. Let $x \in S \setminus (A \cup B)$, then we may assume by the lemma that $A + x \in \mathcal{I}_1 \setminus \mathcal{I}_2$ and $B + x \in \mathcal{I}_2 \setminus \mathcal{I}_1$. Let $a_1 \in A$ be an element such that $A + x - a_1 \in \mathcal{I}_2$. Applying the lemma to $A + x - a_1, B \in \mathcal{I}_1 \cap \mathcal{I}_2$ and the element a_1 , we get that $B + a_1 \in \mathcal{I}_2 \setminus \mathcal{I}_1$ (using that $A + x \in \mathcal{I}_1 \setminus \mathcal{I}_2$). We will keep constructing different elements $a_1, \ldots, a_n \in A$ and $b_1, \ldots, b_{n-1} \in B$ such that the followings hold. This will contradict the finiteness of A and B.

$$A + x - \{a_1, \dots, a_{n-1}, a_n\} + \{b_1, \dots, b_{n-1}\} \in \mathcal{I}_1 \cap \mathcal{I}_2$$

$$A + x - \{a_1, \dots, a_{n-1}\} + \{b_1, \dots, b_{n-1}\} \in \mathcal{I}_1 \setminus \mathcal{I}_2$$

$$B + \{a_1, \dots, a_{n-1}\} - \{b_1, \dots, b_{n-1}\} \in \mathcal{I}_1 \cap \mathcal{I}_2$$

$$B + \{a_1, \dots, a_{n-1}, a_n\} - \{b_1, \dots, b_{n-1}\} \in \mathcal{I}_2 \setminus \mathcal{I}_1$$

For n = 1, the a_1 above satisfies these conditions (we define $\{a_1, \ldots, a_0\}$ and $\{b_1, \ldots, b_0\}$ to be empty). Suppose that we have a_1, \ldots, a_n and b_1, \ldots, b_{n-1} with the required properties, we prove the existence of b_n and a_{n+1} . Let $A' = A - \{a_1, \ldots, a_{n-1}\} + \{b_1, \ldots, b_{n-1}\}$ and $B' = B + \{a_1, \ldots, a_{n-1}\} - \{b_1, \ldots, b_{n-1}\}$. As $B' \in \mathcal{I}_1$ and $B' + a_n \notin \mathcal{I}_1$, the latter set contains exactly one circuit C_1 of M_1 . Since $\{a_1, \ldots, a_n\} \subseteq A$ is independent in M_1 , circuit C_1 intersects B. Let $b_n \in C_1 \cap B$, then $B' + a_n - b_n \in \mathcal{I}_1 \cap \mathcal{I}_2$. Applying the lemma to $A' + x - a_n, B' + a_n - b_n \in \mathcal{I}_1 \cap \mathcal{I}_2$ and the element b_n , we get that $A' + x - a_n + b_n \in \mathcal{I}_1 \setminus \mathcal{I}_2$ (using that $B' + a_n \in \mathcal{I}_2 \setminus \mathcal{I}_1$). As $A' + x - a_n \in \mathcal{I}_2$ and $A' + x - a_n + b_n \notin \mathcal{I}_2$, the latter set contains exactly one circuit C_2 of M_2 . Since $\{b_1, \ldots, b_n\} + x \subseteq B + x$ is independent in M_2 , circuit C_2 intersects A. Let $a_{n+1} \in C_2 \cap A$, then $A' + x - a_n + b_n - a_{n+1} \in \mathcal{I}_1 \cap \mathcal{I}_2$. Applying the lemma to $A' + x - a_n + b_n - a_{n+1}, B' + a_n - b_n$ and the element a_{n+1} , we get that $B'+a_n-b_n+b_{n+1} \in \mathcal{I}_2 \setminus \mathcal{I}_1$ (using that $A'+x-a_n+b_n \in \mathcal{I}_1 \setminus \mathcal{I}_2$). This proves that a_1, \ldots, a_{n+1} and b_1, \ldots, b_n satisfies the required conditions, concluding the proof of the theorem.

Note that the proofs of these two theorems also provide polynomial algorithms for partitioning the ground set into k common independent sets.

Recently, Takazawa and Yokoi [71] proposed a generalized-polymatroid approach, which yields unified proofs for Theorems 3.8, 3.9 and also Theorem 3.4 in case of laminar matroids. They also showed that if $M_1 = (S, \mathcal{I}_1)$ satisfies the conditions of either Theorem 3.8 or Theorem 3.9, and $M_2 = (S, \mathcal{I}_2)$ is a k-colourable laminar matroid, then S can be partitioned into k common independent sets of M_1 and M_2 . Later, Fujishige, Takazawa and Yokoi [25] strengthened these results and proved that under the same assumptions there exists a nearly uniform partition of the ground set into k common independent sets, that is, a partition such that difference of the cardinalities of any two partition classes is at most 1.

3.3 Open problems

We end this chapter with a list of some well-studied conjectures that can be formulated as $\chi(M_1, M_2) = \max{\chi(M_1), \chi(M_2)}$ for specific pairs of matroids M_1, M_2 .

3.3.1 Rota's basis conjecture

Rota made the following conjecture in 1989, and published it with Huang in 1994 [35].

Conjecture 3.11. If M is a matroid of rank n whose ground set can be partitioned into n disjoint bases B_1, \ldots, B_n , then it is possible to rearrange the elements of these bases into an $n \times n$ matrix in such a way that the rows are exactly the given bases, and the columns are also bases of M.

If N denotes the partition matroid defined by the partition $B_1 \cup \cdots \cup B_n$, then M and N are n-colourable matroids and the conjecture states that the ground set can be partitioned into n common bases. As partition matroids are strongly base orderable, Theorem 3.4 implies that the conjecture holds if M is strongly base orderable as well. Geelen and Humphries [28] proved the conjecture for paving matroids. For other partial results see e.g. [29, 11, 32, 10].

3.3.2 Woodall's conjecture on packing dijoins

A directed cut of a directed graph D = (V, A) is the set of arcs entering a set $X \subseteq V$ with out-degree 0. A dijoin is a set of arcs whose contraction results in a strongly connected digraph, or equivalently, a set of arcs intersecting each directed cut. Woodall [77] made the following conjecture.

Conjecture 3.12. In a directed graph the maximum number of pairwise disjoint dijoins equals the minimum size of a directed cut.

The conjecture was known to be true for k = 2, for source-sink connected digraphs by Schrijver [67] and independently by Feofiloff and Younger [21], for series-parallel digraphs by Lee and Wakabayashi [50]. Recently Mészáros [58] proved that if k is a prime power, then the conjecture holds if the underlying undirected graph is (k - 1, 1)-partition-connected. Note that the dual problem is the theorem of Lucchesi and Younger [56]: the maximum number of pairwise disjoint directed cuts equals the minimum size of a dijoin.

Frank and Tardos [23] observed that Woodall's conjecture can be formulated as packing common bases of two matroids. Let D = (V, A) be a directed graph and $k \ge 2$ an integer. For every arc $e \in A$ let H(e) and T(e) be disjoint sets of size 1 and k - 1, respectively, and for a node $v \in V$ let $S(v) = \bigcup \{H(e) : e = uv \in A\} \cup \bigcup \{T(e) : e = vw \in A\}$. For a subset $X \subseteq V$ we use the notation $S(X) = \bigcup_{v \in X} S(v)$, and we set S = S(V). Let $M_1 = (S, \mathcal{I}_1)$ denote the partition matroid with partition classes $H(e) \cup T(e)$ for $e \in A$. The matroid $M_2 = (S, \mathcal{I}_2)$ is defined by the following set of bases:

 $\{B \subseteq S : |B| = |A|, |B \cap S(X)| \ge i(X) + 1 \text{ for every } X \subseteq V \text{ with out-degree } 0\},\$

where i(X) denotes the number of edges induced by X in D. Frank and Tardos showed that this family forms the set of bases of a matroid indeed.

For a basis B of the partition matroid M_1 let us consider the subset of arcs $F = \{e \in A : H(e) \subseteq B\}$. Notice that B is a basis of M_2 if and only if F is a dijoin. Indeed, if B is a common basis of M_1 and M_2 , then $|B \cap S(X)| \ge i(X) + 1$ for every set $X \subseteq V$ with out-degree 0. Then $H(e) \subseteq B$ for at least one arc e entering X, thus $e \in F$. This proves that F intersects every directed cut of D, that is, F is a dijoin. The reverse direction is similar. (See Figure 3.1 for an illustration.)

It is not difficult to see that the previous observation implies that D has k pairwise disjoint dijoins if and only if M_1 and M_2 have k pairwise disjoint common bases. (Note that $|S| = k|A| = kr_{M_1}(S) = kr_{M_2}(S)$, hence this is equivalent to saying that S can be partitioned into kcommon independent sets of M_1 and M_2 .) Thus, Conjecture 3.12 states that M_1 and M_2 have k pairwise disjoint common bases where k denotes the minimum size of a directed cut of D. It is clear that S can be partitioned into k bases of M_1 , and it can be shown using the base polyhedron of M_2 given by Frank and Tardos [23] that S can be partitioned into k bases of M_2 if and only if k is not less than the minimum size of a directed cut [32]. This means that Woodall's conjecture can be formulated as $\chi(M_1, M_2) = \chi(M_1) = \chi(M_2)$.

3.3.3 Equitability of matroids

The following conjecture would follow from several well-studied conjectures. [19] calls matroids with the following property *equitable*.

Conjecture 3.13. Suppose that the ground set of a matroid $M = (S, \mathcal{I})$ can be partitioned into two bases. Then for any set $X \subseteq S$ the ground set can be partitioned into bases B_1 and B_2 such that

$$\lfloor |X|/2 \rfloor \le |B_i \cap X| \le \lceil |X|/2 \rceil \quad (i = 1, 2).$$

Let N denote the partition matroid $(M_X^{free})_{\lceil |X|/2 \rceil} \oplus M_{X-S}^{free}$. (Here the original definition of partition matroids is used where upper bounds different from 1 are allowed on partition classes.) N is clearly a 2-colourable matroid, and Conjecture 3.13 states that $\chi(M, N) = 2$ whenever $\chi(M) = 2$ and $|S| = 2r_M(S)$. Fekete and Szabó [20] showed that the conjecture holds for graphic matroids.

A much general conjecture is due to White [74]. Let B_1, \ldots, B_m be bases of a matroid $M = (S, \mathcal{I})$. If $1 \le i < j \le m, x \in B_i - B_j$ and $y \in B_j - B_i$, then we say that the basis sequence

$$(B_1,\ldots,B_{i-1},B_i-x+y,B_{i+1},\ldots,B_{j-1},B_j-y+x,B_{j+1},\ldots,B_m)$$





(a) An example of a set X with out-degree 0. The elements of S(X) are the coloured ones.

(b) The three colours show the three disjoint dijoins and the three disjoint common bases of the two matroids.

Figure 3.1: An example of a directed graph where the minimum size of a directed cut is k = 3. The ground set of the associated matroids is represented by circles next to the arcs.

is obtained from (B_1, \ldots, B_m) by a symmetric exchange. The conjecture states that for any two basis sequences (B_1, \ldots, B_m) and (B'_1, \ldots, B'_m) such that $|\{i : s \in B_i\}| = |\{i : s \in B'_i\}|$ holds for every element $s \in S$, (B'_1, \ldots, B'_m) can be obtained from (B_1, \ldots, B_m) by a series of symmetric exchanges. Bonin [8] proved that the conjecture holds for sparse paving matroids, and observed that it follows from the results of Blasiak [7] and Kashiwabara [41] that the conjecture holds for graphic matroids, matroids of rank at most three, and also the duals of these. Conjecture 3.13 would follow from the m = 2 case of White's conjecture. Indeed, let $S = B'_1 \cup B'_2$ denote any partition of S into two bases and suppose that (B'_2, B'_1) can be obtained from (B'_1, B'_2) by a series of symmetric exchanges. Consider $|B_1 \cap X|$ for members (B_1, B_2) of the series. This sequence starts with $|B'_1 \cap X|$, ends with $|B'_2 \cap X| = |X| - |B'_1 \cap X|$ and the difference of adjacent members is at most one, hence there is a basis pair (B_1, B_2) such that $\lfloor |X|/2 \rfloor \leq |B_1 \cap X| \leq \lceil |X|/2 \rceil$.

Another much general conjecture than Conjecture 3.13 is about cyclically orderable matroids. A matroid $M = (S, \mathcal{I})$ is called *cyclically orderable* if S has a cyclic permutation such that all sets of r(S) cyclically consecutive elements are bases of M. Kajitani, Ueno and Miyano [40] conjectured that M is cyclically orderable if and only if $|X|/r(X) \leq |S|/r(S)$ holds for $X \subseteq S$. Van den Heuvel and Thomassé [34] proved the conjecture for the case when (|S|, r(S)) = 1. Bonin [8] proved the conjecture for sparse paving matroids. The inequalities $|X|/r(X) \leq |S|/r(S)$ clearly hold if |S| = kr(S), that is, a special case of the conjecture states that every matroid is cyclically orderable whose ground set can be partitioned into k bases. Notice that Conjecture 3.13 would easily follow from the k = 2 case. Indeed, let $M = (S, \mathcal{I})$ be a matroid of rank r such that its ground set can be partitioned into 2 bases. Suppose that M is cyclically orderable and let B_1, \ldots, B_{2r} denote the sets of r cyclically consecutive elements (each of which is a basis of M). Since $\frac{1}{2r} \sum_{i=1}^{2r} |X \cap B_i| = |X|r/2r = |X|/2$ and

 $||X \cap B_i| - |X \cap B_{i+1}|| \le 1$ for i = 1, ..., 2r, it follows that $\lfloor |X|/2 \rfloor \le |B_i \cap X| \le \lceil |X|/2 \rceil$ for some *i*. Thus, B_i and $S - B_i = B_{i+r}$ satisfy the requirements of Conjecture 3.13.

A strengthening of the previous k = 2, |S| = 2r(S) case of the conjecture about cyclically orderable matroids is the following: for any two disjoint bases B_1 , B_2 of a matroid there is a cyclic permutation (b_1, \ldots, b_{2r}) of the elements of $B_1 \cup B_2$ such that each cyclically consecutive r elements form a base of M, $B_1 = \{b_1, \ldots, b_r\}$ and $B_2 = \{b_{r+1}, \ldots, b_{2r}\}$ [26, 12]. Cordovil and Morerira [12] proved the conjecture for graphic matroids and Bonin [8] showed it for sparse paving matroids. The conjecture holds for strongly base orderable matroids as well: if $f: B_1 \rightarrow$ B_2 is a bijection such that $B_1 - X + f(X)$ is a base for $X \subseteq B_1$, then $(b_1, \ldots, b_r, f(b_1), \ldots, f(b_r))$ is a good cyclic ordering for any ordering (b_1, \ldots, b_r) of the elements of B_1 .

Chapter 4

Upper bound on common independent set cover

In this chapter we present the results of Aharoni and Berger [1]. We prove Theorem 4.20, a generalization of the nontrivial direction of Edmond's Theorem 1.2. As a consequence, we obtain the upper bound $\chi(M_1, M_2) \leq 2 \max{\chi(M_1), \chi(M_2)}$ for any pair of matroids M_1, M_2 on the same ground set. The methods used are mostly topological, thus we begin with a detailed overview of the required topological concepts.

4.1 Topological tools

4.1.1 Simplicial complexes

We will use more general set systems than the independent sets of a matroid: the following definition only requires property (I2).

Definition 4.1. A simplicial complex (or plainly complex) C is a hereditary family of finite sets, that is, $Y \subseteq X \in C$ implies $Y \in C$. The vertex set of C (denoted by V(C)) is the union of all members of C.

In what follows we will associate a topological space to any complex.

Definition 4.2. An *(n-dimensional) simplex* is the convex hull of n + 1 affinely independent points (called *vertices*) in some space \mathbb{R}^d $(d \ge n)$. A *face* of the simplex is the convex hull of a (possibly empty) subset of its vertices.

A geometric simplicial complex \mathcal{G} is a family of simplices (in some \mathbb{R}^d) such that (1) the face of any simplex of \mathcal{G} is in \mathcal{G} , and (2) the intersection of two simplices of \mathcal{G} is a common face of them. We write

$$||\mathcal{G}|| = \bigcup_{\Delta \in \mathcal{G}} \Delta \subseteq \mathbb{R}^d.$$

It is clear that the vertex sets of simplices of a geometric simplicial complex form a complex. Conversely, for any complex C we construct a geometric simplicial complex G.

Definition 4.3. The geometric representation of a complex C is an injective mapping $p: V(C) \to \mathbb{R}^d$ such that for every $X, Y \in C$

$$\operatorname{conv}(p(X)) \cap \operatorname{conv}(p(Y)) = \operatorname{conv}(p(X \cap Y)), \tag{4.1}$$

where $\operatorname{conv}(S)$ denotes the convex hull of $S \subseteq \mathbb{R}^d$. We often write $p_v = p(v)$ for $v \in V(\mathcal{C})$.

It is clear, that every complex C has a geometric representation: let d = |V(C)| - 1 and choose p_v ($v \in V(C)$) to be affinely independent.

It is not difficult to show that the injectivity of p and (4.1) implies that for $X \in C$ the points of p(X) are affinely independent, thus $\operatorname{conv}(p(X))$ is an (|X| - 1)-dimensional simplex. We write

$$||X|| = \operatorname{conv}(p(X)) \ (X \in \mathcal{C}),$$

then (4.1) implies that $\{||X|| : X \in \mathcal{C}\}$ is a geometric simplicial complex. We define

$$||\mathcal{C}|| = \bigcup_{X \in \mathcal{C}} \operatorname{conv}(p(X)) \subseteq \mathbb{R}^d$$

Clearly, $||\mathcal{C}||$ depends on the chosen geometric representation of \mathcal{C} . However, we show that $||\mathcal{C}||$ as a topological space (with the subspace topology from \mathbb{R}^d) is unique up to homeomorphism.

Definition 4.4. Let \mathcal{A} and \mathcal{B} be complexes and $f: V(\mathcal{A}) \to V(\mathcal{B})$ a mapping. f is simplicial if $f(\mathcal{A}) \in \mathcal{B}$ for every $\mathcal{A} \in \mathcal{A}$. A bijective simplicial mapping whose inverse is also a simplicial is called an *isomorphism*.

Proposition 4.5. Let \mathcal{A} and \mathcal{B} be complexes with geometric representations p and q, respectively. If $f: V(\mathcal{A}) \to V(\mathcal{B})$ is simplicial, then

$$||f||: ||\mathcal{A}|| \to ||\mathcal{B}||, \quad \sum_{i=1}^k \alpha_i p_{v_i} \mapsto \sum_{i=1}^k \alpha_i q_{f(v_i)}$$

is a well-defined continuous map where $\{v_1, \ldots, v_k\} \in \mathcal{A}, \ 0 \leq \alpha_1, \ldots, \alpha_k \text{ and } \sum_{i=1}^k \alpha_i = 1.$ Moreover, if f is an isomorphism, then ||f|| is a homeomorphism.

Proof. As f is simplicial, $\{f(v_1), \ldots, f(v_k)\} \in \mathcal{B}$ for $\{v_1, \ldots, v_k\} \in \mathcal{A}$, hence $||f|| \left(\sum_{i=1}^k \alpha_i p_{v_i}\right) \in ||\mathcal{B}||$. Thus ||f|| is well-defined, and it is also clear that ||f|| is continuous, as it is continuous on each simplex. If f is an isomorphism, then it is not difficult to check that $||\mathcal{B}|| \to ||\mathcal{A}||$, $\sum_{i=1}^k \alpha_i q_{v_i} \mapsto \sum_{i=1}^k \alpha_i p_{f^{-1}(v_i)}$ is the inverse of ||f|| and it is continuous, hence ||f|| is a homeomorphism.

Corollary 4.6. For a complex C, ||C|| is unique up to homeomorphism.

Proof. $|| \operatorname{id}_{V(\mathcal{C})} ||$ is a homeomorphism between any two spaces obtained from geometric representations of \mathcal{C} .

It will be easier to formulate some results using the following definition.

Definition 4.7. Let C be a complex with geometric representation p. The support of $x \in ||C||$ is the smallest set $\operatorname{supp}_{\mathcal{C}}(x) = \{v_1, \ldots, v_k\} \in C$ such that $x \in \operatorname{conv}\{p_{v_1}, \ldots, p_{v_k}\}$.

4.1.2 Barycentric subdivisions

Definition 4.8. The *barycentric subdivision* of a complex \mathcal{C} is the complex

$$\beta(\mathcal{C}) = \{\{S_1, \dots, S_k\} : S_1, \dots, S_k \in \mathcal{C}, \emptyset \neq S_1 \subsetneq S_2 \subsetneq \dots \subsetneq S_k, k \ge 0\}.$$

Clearly, $\beta(\mathcal{C})$ is a complex and $V(\beta(\mathcal{C})) = \mathcal{C} \setminus \{\emptyset\}$. The following statement shows the geometric meaning of this construction.

Proposition 4.9. Let $p: V(\mathcal{C}) \to \mathbb{R}^d$ be a geometric representation of a complex \mathcal{C} . Then

$$q: V(\beta(\mathcal{C})) \to \mathbb{R}^d, \ S \mapsto \frac{1}{|S|} \sum_{v \in S} p_v$$

is a geometric representation of $\beta(\mathcal{C})$ such that $||\mathcal{C}|| = ||\beta(\mathcal{C})||$. Moreover, for $x \in ||\mathcal{C}||$

 $\operatorname{supp}_{\beta(\mathcal{C})}(x) = \{S_1, \dots, S_k\} \text{ for some } S_1, \dots, S_k \subseteq \operatorname{supp}_{\mathcal{C}}(x).$

Proof [76]. We prove by induction on $|\mathcal{C}|$. If \mathcal{C} consists of only singletons (and the empty set), then the statements are trivial. Otherwise, let $S \in \mathcal{C}$ be a set of the complex such that |S| is maximal (then $|S| \ge 2$ by our assumption). Let Δ denote the simplex conv(p(S)), $\partial \Delta$ its boundary and int Δ its interior. We will rely on the following basic geometric fact:

$$\forall x \in \operatorname{int} \Delta, x \neq q_S \; \exists ! t \in (0, 1), y \in \partial \Delta : \; x = t \cdot q_S + (1 - t) \cdot y. \tag{4.2}$$

As |S| is maximal, $\mathcal{C}' = \mathcal{C} \setminus \{S\}$ is a complex as well, hence $q|_{\mathcal{C}'}$ and $\beta(\mathcal{C}')$ satisfy the statements above by the induction hypothesis. We have $q_S \in \operatorname{int} \Delta$ and $q_{S'} \in ||\beta(\mathcal{C}')|| = ||\mathcal{C}'||$ for $S' \in \mathcal{C}'$, hence the injectivity of q follows from $||\mathcal{C}'|| \cap \operatorname{int} \Delta = \emptyset$ and the injectivity of $q|_{\mathcal{C}'}$. To prove that q is a geometric representation of $\beta(\mathcal{C})$, we need to show that $\operatorname{conv}(q(X)) \cap \operatorname{conv}(q(Y)) = \operatorname{conv}(q(X \cap Y))$ for every $X, Y \in \beta(\mathcal{C})$. As q is a geometric representation of \mathcal{C}' , we may assume that $X \in \beta(\mathcal{C}) \setminus \beta(\mathcal{C}')$, that is, $S \in X$. Then X is a chain with maximal element S, hence $\operatorname{conv}(q(X)) \subseteq \Delta$. Suppose first that $S \notin Y$. Then $\operatorname{conv}(q(X)) \cap \partial\Delta) \cap \operatorname{conv}(q(Y)) = \operatorname{conv}(q(X - S)) \cap \operatorname{conv}(q(Y))$, which equals to $\operatorname{conv}(q(X - S) \cap Y)) = \operatorname{conv}(q(X \cap Y))$ as the restriction of q is a geometric representation of $\beta(\mathcal{C}')$. Assume now that $S \in Y$. Let $F = \operatorname{conv}(q(X - S))$ and $G = \operatorname{conv}(F \cap G, q_S)$. As the restriction of q is a geometric representation of $\beta(\mathcal{C}')$. As the restriction of q is a geometric representation of $\beta(\mathcal{C}')$. Then $\operatorname{conv}(q(X)) \cap \operatorname{conv}(q(Y)) = \operatorname{conv}(q(X - S))$ and $G = \operatorname{conv}(F \cap G, q_S)$. As the restriction of q is a geometric representation of $\beta(\mathcal{C}')$. Thus, $\operatorname{conv}(q(X)) \cap \operatorname{conv}(q(Y)) = \operatorname{conv}(q(X \cap Y))$ follows. This proves that q is a geometric representation of $\beta(\mathcal{C})$.

We show that $||\beta(\mathcal{C})|| = ||\mathcal{C}||$. If $S \in X \in \beta(\mathcal{C})$, then we noticed above that $||X|| \subseteq \Delta \subseteq ||\mathcal{C}||$, hence $||\beta(\mathcal{C})|| \subseteq ||\mathcal{C}||$ follows from $||\beta(\mathcal{C}')|| = ||\mathcal{C}'||$. To prove the other direction we only need to show that int $\Delta \subseteq ||\beta(\mathcal{C}')||$ (using that $||\beta(\mathcal{C}')|| = ||\mathcal{C}'||$). It is clear that $q_S \in ||\beta(\mathcal{C}')||$, and for $x \in \text{int } \Delta, x \neq q_S$ there exists y and t as in (4.2). As $y \in \partial\Delta \subseteq ||\mathcal{C}'|| = ||\beta(\mathcal{C}')||$, there exists an $X' \in \beta(\mathcal{C}')$ such that $y \in ||X'||$. Then $X = X' \cup \{S\} \in \beta(\mathcal{C})$ and $x \in ||X||$, concluding the proof of our claim.

Now we prove the last statement about $\operatorname{supp}_{\beta(\mathcal{C})}(x)$. As the claim holds for \mathcal{C}' , we may assume that $x \in ||\beta(\mathcal{C})|| \setminus ||\beta(\mathcal{C}')|| = \operatorname{int} \Delta$. If $x = q_S$, then $\operatorname{supp}_{\beta(\mathcal{C})}(x) = \{S\}$ and the claim is true. If $x \neq q_S$, then there exists y and t as in (4.2), and $\operatorname{supp}_{\beta(\mathcal{C})}(x) = \operatorname{supp}_{\beta(\mathcal{C}')}(y) \cup \{S\}$. As $\operatorname{supp}_{\beta(\mathcal{C}')}(y) = \{S_1, \ldots, S_k\}$ for some $S_1, \ldots, S_k \in \operatorname{supp}_{\mathcal{C}'}(y) \subseteq \operatorname{supp}_{\mathcal{C}}(x)$, it follows that $\operatorname{supp}_{\beta(\mathcal{C})}(x) = \{S_1, \ldots, S_k, S\}$ where $S_1, \ldots, S_k, S \in \operatorname{supp}_{\beta(\mathcal{C})}(x)$. This concludes the proof of the proposition.

4.1.3 *k*-connectivity

The most important concept we will use in this chapter is the connectivity of a complex. We denote the *d*-dimensional closed unit ball by B^d and its boundary (the (d-1)-dimensional sphere) by S^{d-1} .

Definition 4.10. A topological space X is k-connected $(k \ge 0)$, if for every $0 \le r \le k$, every continuous map $f: S^r \to X$ extends to a continuous map $\bar{f}: B^{r+1} \to X$. X is (-1)-connected if it is nonempty. In particular, 0-connectivity means path-connectivity.

We say that a complex C is k-connected if ||C|| is k-connected. (Note that k-connectivity is homeomorphism invariant.) To handle k-connectivity, we need some more definitions.

Definition 4.11. Let X and Y be topological spaces and $f, g: X \to Y$ continuous mappings. f and g are homotopic $(f \sim g)$, if there exists a continuous mapping $H: X \times [0, 1] \to Y$ such that H(x, 0) = f(x) and H(x, 1) = g(x) for every $x \in X$. f is 0-homotopic $(f \sim 0 \text{ in } Y)$, if it is homotopic to a mapping of X onto a single point of Y.

Definition 4.12. Let $X \subseteq Y$ be topological spaces. A continuous mapping $f: Y \to X$ is called a *retraction*, if $f|_X = id_X$. X is a *retract* of Y if there exists a retraction $Y \to X$.

It is straightforward to check that a retract of a k-connected space is k-connected.

The next definition corresponds to the truncation of matroids but the notation is slightly different.

Definition 4.13. The *k*-dimensional skeleton of a complex C is $C_k = \{X \in C : |X| \le k+1\}$.

Using these definitions one can directly prove the following characterization of k-connectivity (see e.g. [6] for a proof).

Proposition 4.14. For any complex C and $k \ge 0$, the followings are equivalent:

- (1) C is k-connected,
- (2) C_{k+1} is k-connected,
- (3) $||\mathcal{C}_{k+1}||$ is a retract of $||(2^{V(\mathcal{C})})_{k+1}||$,
- (4) $id_{||\mathcal{C}_k||} \sim 0$ in ||C||.

The following theorem (in a more general setting) follows from algebraic topological results, but we give here an elementary proof using only Proposition 4.14.

Theorem 4.15. If \mathcal{A} and \mathcal{B} are k-connected complexes and $\mathcal{A} \cap \mathcal{B}$ is (k-1)-connected, then $\mathcal{A} \cup \mathcal{B}$ is k-connected.

Proof [6]. The proof is based on the following lemma.

Lemma 4.16. Let C be a complex and U any finite set.

- (a) If \mathcal{C} is k-connected and $\mathcal{C} \cap 2^U$ is (k-1)-connected, then $\mathcal{C} \cup 2^U$ is k-connected.
- (b) If $\mathcal{C} \cap 2^U$ and $\mathcal{C} \cup 2^U$ are k-connected, then \mathcal{C} is k-connected.

Proof. (a) $\mathcal{C} \cap 2^U$ is (k-1)-connected, hence there exists a retraction $f: ||(2^U)_k|| \to ||(\mathcal{C} \cap 2^U)_k|| = ||\mathcal{C}_k|| \cap ||(2^U)_k||$. (By Proposition 4.14, $||(\mathcal{C} \cap 2^U)_{k+1}||$ is a retract of $||(2^U')_{k+1}||$ where $U' = V(\mathcal{C} \cap 2^U) \subseteq U$. Since $||(2^{U'})_{k+1}||$ is a retract of $||(2^U)_{k+1}||$, $||(\mathcal{C} \cap 2^U)_{k+1}||$ is a retract of $||(2^U)_{k+1}||$ is a retract of $||(2^U)_{k+1}||$ as well.) f can be extended to a retraction $\overline{f}: ||\mathcal{C}_k|| \cup ||(2^U)_k|| \to ||\mathcal{C}_k||$ by letting it be identity on $||\mathcal{C}_k||$. Clearly, $||\mathcal{C}_k|| \cup ||(2^U)_k|| = ||(\mathcal{C} \cup 2^U)_k||$ and

$$\bar{f} \sim \mathrm{id}_{||(\mathcal{C} \cup 2^U)_k||}$$
 in $||\mathcal{C} \cup 2^U||$

(since for $x \in ||(2^U)_k||$, points x and $\bar{f}(x)$ are both contained in the convex set $||2^U||$). Since \mathcal{C} is k-connected, $\mathrm{id}_{\mathcal{C}_k} \sim 0$ in $||\mathcal{C}||$, hence $\bar{f} = \mathrm{id}_{\mathcal{C}_k} \circ \bar{f} \sim 0$ in $||\mathcal{C}||$ and so $\bar{f} \sim 0$ in $||\mathcal{C} \cup 2^U||$ as well. Then $\mathrm{id}_{||\mathcal{C} \cup 2^U|_k||} \sim 0$ in $||\mathcal{C} \cup 2^U||$, thus $\mathcal{C} \cup 2^U$ is k-connected.

(b) $\mathcal{C} \cap 2^U$ is k-connected, which implies (as we have seen in part (a)) that $||\mathcal{C}_{k+1}||$ is a retract of $||(\mathcal{C} \cup 2^U)_{k+1}||$. Since $||(\mathcal{C} \cup 2^U)_{k+1}||$ is k-connected, its retract $||\mathcal{C}_{k+1}||$ is k-connected as well, thus \mathcal{C} is k-connected.

Consider the barycentric subdivisions $\beta(\mathcal{A})$ and $\beta(\mathcal{B})$. It is not difficult to check that $\beta(\mathcal{A} \cap \mathcal{B}) = \beta(\mathcal{A}) \cap \beta(\mathcal{B})$ and $\beta(\mathcal{A} \cup \mathcal{B}) = \beta(\mathcal{A}) \cup \beta(\mathcal{B})$ (the latter follows from the hereditary property of \mathcal{A} and \mathcal{B}). Hence, by Proposition 4.9 $\mathcal{A}' := \beta(\mathcal{A})$ and $\mathcal{B}' := \beta(\mathcal{B})$ are k-connected, $\mathcal{A}' \cap \mathcal{B}'$ is (k-1)-connected, and it is sufficient to show that $\mathcal{A}' \cup \mathcal{B}'$ is k-connected.

Let $U = V(\mathcal{B}') = \mathcal{B}$. As \mathcal{A}' is k-connected and $\mathcal{A}' \cap 2^U = \mathcal{A}' \cap \mathcal{B}'$ is (k-1)-connected, part (a) of Lemma 4.16 yields that $\mathcal{A}' \cup 2^U$ is k-connected. Let $\mathcal{C} = \mathcal{A}' \cup \mathcal{B}'$, then $\mathcal{C} \cup 2^U = \mathcal{A}' \cup 2^U$ and $\mathcal{C} \cap 2^U = (\mathcal{A}' \cap 2^U) \cup (\mathcal{B}' \cap 2^U) = (\mathcal{A}' \cap \mathcal{B}') \cup \mathcal{B}' = \mathcal{B}'$ are k-connected, thus by part (b) of Lemma 4.16, $\mathcal{C} = \mathcal{A} \cup \mathcal{B}$ is k-connected as well.

We introduce the following notation for a complex C:

$$\eta(\mathcal{C}) = 2 + \sup\{k : \mathcal{C} \text{ is } k \text{-connected}\},\$$

where we define every topological space to be (-2)-connected (that is, $\eta(\mathcal{C}) = 0$ if $||\mathcal{C}|| = \emptyset$). In particular, if \mathcal{C} is k-connected for every k, then $\eta(\mathcal{C}) = \infty$. The addition of 2 corresponds to the number of vertices of the simplex homeomorphic to S^k in the definition of k-connectivity.

Using this notation the previous theorem can be formulated as

$$\eta(\mathcal{A} \cup \mathcal{B}) \ge \min\{\eta(\mathcal{A}), \eta(\mathcal{B}), \eta(\mathcal{A} \cap \mathcal{B}) + 1\}.$$
(4.3)

We shall only use this result in a special case. For a vertex x of a complex C consider the analogue of restriction to $V(\mathcal{C}) - x$ and contraction of x:

$$\mathcal{C} - x = \{ X \in \mathcal{C} : x \notin X \},\$$
$$\mathcal{C}/x = \{ X \in \mathcal{C} : x \notin X, X + x \in \mathcal{C} \}$$

For complexes \mathcal{C}/x is usually called the *link* of x.

Corollary 4.17. For every vertex x of a complex C

$$\eta(\mathcal{C}) \ge \min\{\eta(\mathcal{C} - x), \eta(\mathcal{C}/x) + 1\}.$$

Proof. We may assume that $\{x\} \in \mathcal{C}$ as otherwise $\mathcal{C} = \mathcal{C} - x$ and $\eta(\mathcal{C}) = \eta(\mathcal{C} - x)$. Let $\mathcal{A} = \mathcal{C} - x$ and $\mathcal{B} = \{X : X + x \in \mathcal{C}\}$, then $\mathcal{A} \cup \mathcal{B} = \mathcal{C}$ and $\mathcal{A} \cap \mathcal{B} = \mathcal{C}/x$. Notice that $||\mathcal{B}||$ is a nonempty star-convex set (the line segment between the point corresponding to x and any point of $||\mathcal{B}||$ lies completely in $||\mathcal{B}||$), hence $\eta(\mathcal{B}) = \infty$. Using inequality (4.3) the desired result follows. \Box

As complexes are generalizations of matroids, it is natural to ask the relationship between the rank function r and the connectivity parameter η of a matroid $M = (S, \mathcal{I})$. It can be shown that they are more or less the same:

$$\eta(\mathcal{I}) = \begin{cases} \infty, & \text{if } M \text{ contains a co-loop,} \\ r(S), & \text{otherwise.} \end{cases}$$

The inequality $\eta(\mathcal{I}) \geq r(S)$ can be derived from Corollary 4.17; later we will prove the more general Proposition 4.21.

4.1.4 The Knaster-Kuratowski-Mazurkiewicz lemma

The last geometrical tool we will need is a result equivalent to Sperner's following classical lemma.

Theorem 4.18 (Sperner's lemma [70]). Let Δ be an n-dimensional simplex with vertices p_1, \ldots, p_{n+1} and \mathcal{G} a geometric simplicial complex such that $||\mathcal{G}|| = \Delta$. Consider a colouring $c: V(\mathcal{G}) \rightarrow \{1, \ldots, n+1\}$ such that for every $v \in V(\mathcal{G})$

$$v \in \operatorname{conv}\{p_{i_1}, \ldots, p_{i_k}\} \Rightarrow c(v) \in \{i_1, \ldots, i_k\}.$$

Then there exists an odd number of n-dimensional simplices of \mathcal{G} , whose vertices are coloured with all n + 1 colours.

The next theorem formulates two closely related results. The first one, with A_1, \ldots, A_{n+1} closed is the classical theorem of Knaster, Kuratowski and Mazurkiewicz [45] from 1929, which we prove as a consequence of Sperner's lemma. The second one, with A_1, \ldots, A_{n+1} open is a consequence of the closed version, for this we follow the proof of [69].

Theorem 4.19 (KKM lemma). Let Δ be an n-dimensional simplex with vertices p_1, \ldots, p_{n+1} . Suppose that A_1, \ldots, A_{n+1} are closed (resp. open) subsets of Δ such that

$$\operatorname{conv}\{p_{i_1},\ldots,p_{i_k}\} \subseteq A_{i_1} \cup \cdots \cup A_{i_k} \tag{4.4}$$

for every subset $\{i_1, \ldots, i_k\} \subseteq \{1, \ldots, n+1\}$. Then $A_1 \cap \cdots \cap A_{n+1}$ is nonempty.

Proof. Suppose first that A_1, \ldots, A_{n+1} are closed. Let $\varepsilon > 0$, and construct a geometric simplicial complex \mathcal{G} such that $||\mathcal{G}|| = \Delta$ and the diameter of every simplex of \mathcal{G} is at most ε . (As Δ is a standard *n*-dimensional simplex, it is not difficult to give an elementary construction – a more general way to do this would be to consider repeated barycentric subdivisions.) For $v \in V(\mathcal{G})$ let $\operatorname{conv}\{p_{i_1}, \ldots, p_{i_k}\}$ be the smallest face of Δ containing v, then by (4.19) there exists a colour $c(v) \in \{i_1, \ldots, i_k\}$ such that $v \in A_{c(v)}$. The colouring c satisfies the conditions of Sperner's lemma, hence there exists an n-dimensional simplex in \mathcal{G} with vertices $q_1^{\varepsilon}, \ldots, q_{n+1}^{\varepsilon}$ such that $c(q_i^{\varepsilon}) = i$, that is, $q_i^{\varepsilon} \in A_i$. Consider a sequence ε_m converging to 0, then it has a subsequence ε'_m such that $q_1^{\varepsilon'_m}$ converges to a point q. As the diameter of $\{q_1^{\varepsilon'_m}, \ldots, q_{n+1}^{\varepsilon'_m}\}$ is at most ε'_m , we get that $q_i^{\varepsilon'_m} \to q$ for $i = 1, \ldots, n+1$. As $q_i^{\varepsilon'_m} \in A_i$ and A_i is closed, $q \in A_i$ as well, thus $q \in A_1 \cap \cdots \cap A_{n+1}$.

Assume now that A_1, \ldots, A_{n+1} are open. We show that there exists closed sets A'_1, \ldots, A'_{n+1} satisfying (4.19) such that $A'_i \subseteq A_i$, then the result will follow by $\emptyset \neq A'_1 \cap \cdots \cap A'_{n+1} \subseteq A_1 \cap \cdots \cap A_{n+1}$. For $x \in \Delta$ there exists an open set U_x such that $x \in U_x \subseteq \overline{U_x} \subseteq \bigcap_{x \in A_i} A_i$, since $\bigcap_{x \in A_i} A_i$ is open (here $\overline{U_x}$ denotes the closure of U_x). For every i_1, \ldots, i_k the union $\bigcup \{U_x : x \in A_{i_1} \cup \cdots \cup A_{i_k}\} = A_{i_1} \cup \cdots \cup A_{i_k}$ is an open cover of the compact set $\operatorname{conv}\{p_{i_1}, \ldots, p_{i_k}\}$, hence there exists a finite subset $X_{i_1,\ldots,i_k} \subseteq A_{i_1} \cup \cdots \cup A_{i_k}$ such that $\operatorname{conv}\{p_{i_1},\ldots,p_{i_k}\} \subseteq \bigcup \{U_x : x \in X_{i_1,\ldots,i_k}\}$. Let $X = \bigcup_{i_1,\ldots,i_k} X_{i_1,\ldots,i_k}$, then X is a finite set such that

$$\operatorname{conv}\{p_{i_1},\ldots,p_{i_k}\} \subseteq \bigcup\{U_x : x \in X, U_x \subseteq A_{i_1} \cup \cdots \cup A_{i_k}\}.$$
(4.5)

Now let

$$A'_i = \bigcup \{ \overline{U_x} : x \in X, U_x \subseteq A_i \},\$$

then A'_i is closed as it is a finite union of closed sets. By $\overline{U_x} \subseteq \bigcap_{x \in A_i} A_i$, $U_x \subseteq A_i$ implies $\overline{U_x} \subseteq A_i$, hence $A'_i \subseteq A_i$. Moreover, if $U_x \subseteq A_{i_1} \cup \ldots A_{i_k}$, then $U_x \subseteq A_{i_j}$ for some j, hence (4.5) implies that A_1, \ldots, A_{n+1} satisfies (4.19). This concludes the proof of the theorem. \Box

4.2 The intersection of a matroid and a simplicial complex

We are ready to prove the main result of [1]. For a set X and complex \mathcal{C} , we write $\mathcal{C}|_X = \{C \in \mathcal{C} : C \subseteq X\}.$

Theorem 4.20. Let $k \ge 0$, C be a complex and $M = (S, \mathcal{I})$ a matroid with rank function r such that $V(\mathcal{C}) \subseteq S$. If

$$\eta(\mathcal{C}|_X) + r(S - X) \ge k \quad (X \subseteq S), \tag{4.6}$$

then there exists an independent set $I \in C \cap \mathcal{I}$ of size k.

Proof. We may assume that k = r(S) by considering the k-truncation of M. We may also assume that $V(\mathcal{C}) = S$.

Let \mathcal{H} denote the complex whose vertices are the hyperplanes¹ of the matroid M and which consists of all subsets of hyperplanes of M. Clearly, $||\mathcal{H}||$ is a simplex. In what follows, we construct a continuous map $f: ||\mathcal{H}|| \to ||\mathcal{C}||$ with some special properties.

By Proposition 4.9, we have $||\mathcal{H}|| = ||\beta(\mathcal{H})||$. We define the *flat complex* of M by

$$\mathcal{F}(M) = \{\{F_1, \dots, F_k\}: F_1 \subsetneq F_2 \subsetneq \dots \subsetneq F_k \subsetneq S \text{ are closed in } M, k \ge 0\},\$$

then the vertices of $\mathcal{F}(M)$ are the closed sets of M excluding S. The vertices of $\beta(\mathcal{H})$ are of the form $\{H_1, \ldots, H_k\}$ for some hyperplanes H_1, \ldots, H_k of M. We define

$$g: V(\beta(\mathcal{H})) \to V(\mathcal{F}(M)), \ g(\{H_1, \dots, H_k\}) = \bigcap_{i=1}^{k} H_i$$

Notice that g is simplicial: the image of a chain of vertices of $\beta(\mathcal{H})$ is a chain of vertices of $\mathcal{F}(M)$ (the inclusion is reversed). Thus, by Proposition 4.5 we have a continuous mapping $||g||: ||\beta(\mathcal{H})|| \to ||\mathcal{F}(M)||$.

Now we construct a continuous map $h: ||\mathcal{F}(M)|| \to ||\mathcal{C}||$. We define h for points of the interior of each simplex $||\{F_1, \ldots, F_k\}||$ at a time (here $\{F_1, \ldots, F_k\} \in \mathcal{F}(M), F_1 \subsetneq \cdots \subsetneq F_k$). If k = 1, then we define h on the point $||\{F_1\}||$ to be the point corresponding to a vertex in $S \setminus F_1$ (note that we did not allow $F_1 = S$ in the definition of $\mathcal{F}(M)$). Assume that we defined h on the interiors for $1, 2, \ldots, k - 1$, then it is defined on the boundary of $||\{F_1, \ldots, F_k\}||$, now we define it on its interior. As $F_1 \subsetneq \cdots \subsetneq F_k \subsetneq S$ is a chain of closed sets, we have $r(F_1) \le r(F_2) - 1 \le r(F_3) - 2 \le \cdots \le r(S) - k$. Then by (4.6) we have

$$\eta(\mathcal{C}|_{S-F_1}) \ge r(S) - r(F_1) \ge k,$$

thus $\mathcal{C}|_{S-F_1}$ is (k-2)-connected. The boundary of the (k-1)-dimensional simplex $||\{F_1, \ldots, F_k\}||$ is homeomorphic to the sphere S^{k-2} , hence by the definition of (k-2)-connectivity h extends continuously to the interior of $||\{F_1, \ldots, F_k\}||$. This concludes the definition of $h: ||\mathcal{F}(M)|| \to$ $||\mathcal{C}||$. By the construction, we have the following property:

$$\forall y \in ||\mathcal{F}(M)|| \; \exists F \in \operatorname{supp}_{\mathcal{F}(M)}(y) : F \cap \operatorname{supp}_{\mathcal{C}}(h(y)) = \emptyset.$$
(4.7)

Indeed, if $\operatorname{supp}_{\mathcal{F}(M)}(y) = \{F_1\}$, then $\operatorname{supp}_{\mathcal{C}}(h(y))$ is a vertex in $S - F_1$, hence $F = F_1$ satisfies (4.7). Otherwise, $\operatorname{supp}_{\mathcal{F}(M)}(y) = \{F_1, \ldots, F_k\}$ for some $k \ge 2$, then $h(y) \in ||\mathcal{C}|_{S-F_1}||$, hence $F = F_1$ satisfies (4.7).

 $^{^{1}}$ [1] considered cuts (the complement of hyperplanes) as vertices of the complex. This minor modification is due to [59] and it will not make any difference.

Let $f = h \circ ||g||$, then it is a continuous map $||\mathcal{H}|| \to ||\mathcal{C}||$:

$$f \colon ||\mathcal{H}|| = ||\beta(\mathcal{H})|| \xrightarrow{||g||} ||\mathcal{F}(M)|| \xrightarrow{h} ||\mathcal{C}||.$$

For a hyperplane $H \in V(\mathcal{H})$ let

$$A_H = \{ x \in ||\mathcal{H}|| : \operatorname{supp}_{\mathcal{C}}(f(x)) \not\subseteq H \}.$$

 A_H is an open subset of $||\mathcal{H}||$, as

$$A_H = \bigcup_{s \in S \setminus H} \{ x \in ||\mathcal{H}|| : s \in \operatorname{supp}_{\mathcal{C}}(f(x)) \} = \bigcup_{s \in S \setminus H} f^{-1} \left(\{ y \in ||\mathcal{C}|| : s \in \operatorname{supp}_{\mathcal{C}}(y) \} \right)$$

is the union of open sets since f is continuous and $\{y \in ||\mathcal{C}|| : s \in \operatorname{supp}_{\mathcal{C}}(y)\}$ is open for every s.

We claim that the sets A_H $(H \in V(\mathcal{H}))$ satisfy (4.4), which can be rephrased as follows:

$$\forall x \in ||\mathcal{H}|| \; \exists H \in \operatorname{supp}_{\mathcal{H}}(x) : x \in A_H.$$

Let $x \in ||\mathcal{H}||$, then by (4.7) there exists an $F \in \operatorname{supp}_{\mathcal{F}(M)}(||g||(x))$ such that $F \cap \operatorname{supp}_{\mathcal{C}}(f(x)) = \emptyset$. By the definition of ||g||, $F \in \operatorname{supp}_{\mathcal{F}(M)}(||g||(x))$ implies that $\beta(\mathcal{H})$ has a vertex $v \in \operatorname{supp}_{\beta(\mathcal{H})}(x)$ such that g(v) = F. By Proposition 4.9, v is of the form $v = \{H_1, \ldots, H_k\}$ for some hyperplanes of \mathcal{H} such that $\{H_1, \ldots, H_k\} \subseteq \operatorname{supp}_{\mathcal{H}}(x)$. As $F = g(v) = \bigcap_{i=1}^k H_i$ is disjoint from $\operatorname{supp}_{\mathcal{C}}(f(x))$, we get that $\operatorname{supp}_{\mathcal{C}}(f(x)) \not\subseteq H_i$ for some $i \in \{1, \ldots, k\}$. Thus $x \in A_{H_i}$ and $H_i \in \operatorname{supp}_{\mathcal{H}}(x)$, which concludes the proof of our claim.

Therefore, we can apply Theorem 4.19, which yields that there exists an $x \in \bigcap_{H \in V(\mathcal{H})} A_H$. This means that $\operatorname{supp}_{\mathcal{C}}(f(x)) \not\subseteq H$ for every hyperplane H, thus $\operatorname{supp}_{\mathcal{C}}(f(x))$ is a generator of M (that is, it has rank r(S)). Then $\operatorname{supp}_{\mathcal{C}}(f(x))$ contains a basis of M which is in \mathcal{C} by $\operatorname{supp}_{\mathcal{C}}(f(x)) \in \mathcal{C}$. This concludes the proof of the theorem. \Box

4.3 2-approximation

To apply Theorem 4.20, we need a lower bound on the connectivity parameter η .

Proposition 4.21. For matroids $M_1 = (S, \mathcal{I}_1), \ldots, M_k = (S, \mathcal{I}_k)$ on common ground set S

$$\eta(\mathcal{I}_1 \cap \cdots \cap \mathcal{I}_k) \geq \max\{|I| : I \in \mathcal{I}_1 \cap \cdots \cap \mathcal{I}_k\}/k.$$

Proof. For a complex C we will us use the notation $\nu(C) = \max\{|I| : I \in C\}$.

We prove by induction on |S|. Let $\mathcal{C} = \mathcal{I}_1 \cap \cdots \cap \mathcal{I}_k$ and $I \in \mathcal{C}$ a set of size $\nu(\mathcal{C})$. Let $x \in S - I$ be an element which is not a loop in any of the matroids (if there is no such x then $\eta(\mathcal{C}) = \eta(2^I) = \infty$ and the inequality is trivial). Notice that $\nu(\mathcal{I}_1/x \cap \cdots \cap \mathcal{I}_k/x) \geq \nu(\mathcal{C}) - k$. Indeed, for $j = 1, \ldots, k$ we can pick an element $x_j \in I$ such that $I - x_j + x \in \mathcal{I}_j$ (assuming $I \neq \emptyset$), and then $I - \{x_1, \ldots, x_k\} \in \mathcal{I}_1/x \cap \cdots \cap \mathcal{I}_k/x$ is a set of size at least |I| - k. Applying induction to $\mathcal{C} - x$ and \mathcal{C}/x we get

$$\eta(\mathcal{C}-x) = \eta((\mathcal{I}_1-x) \cap \dots \cap (\mathcal{I}_k-x)) \ge \nu((\mathcal{I}_1-x) \cap \dots \cap (\mathcal{I}_k-x))/k = \nu(\mathcal{C})/k,$$

$$\eta(\mathcal{C}/x) = \eta(\mathcal{I}_1/x \cap \dots \cap \mathcal{I}_k/x) \ge \nu(\mathcal{I}_1/x \cap \dots \cap \mathcal{I}_k/x)/k \ge (\nu(\mathcal{C})-k)/k = \nu(\mathcal{C})/k - 1,$$

and $\eta(\mathcal{C}) \geq \min\{\eta(\mathcal{C}-x)/k, \eta(\mathcal{C}/x)/k+1\} \geq \nu(\mathcal{C})/k$ by Corollary 4.17.

Corollary 4.22. Let M_1 , M_2 , M_3 be matroids on the same ground set S such that

$$\frac{1}{2}r_1(X_1) + \frac{1}{2}r_2(X_2) + r_3(X_3) \ge k \tag{4.8}$$

whenever $S = X_1 \cup X_2 \cup X_3$. Then they have a common independent set of size k.

Proof. Let $C = \mathcal{I}_1 \cap \mathcal{I}_2$, then by Theorem 4.20 it suffices to show that $\eta(C|_X) + r_3(S - X) \ge k$ holds for every $X \subseteq S$. Applying Proposition 4.21, Theorem 1.2 and assumption (4.8) we get the desired result:

$$\eta(\mathcal{C}|_X) \ge \frac{1}{2} \max\{|I| : I \in \mathcal{I}_1 \cap \mathcal{I}_2, I \subseteq X\} = \frac{1}{2} \min\{r_1(X_1) + r_2(X_2) : X = X_1 \cup X_2\}$$
$$\ge k - r_3(S - X).$$

Corollary 4.22 implies the following result just as Theorem 1.2 implies Theorem 1.3.

Theorem 4.23. For matroids $M_1 = (S, \mathcal{I}_1)$ and $M_2 = (S, \mathcal{I}_2)$

$$\chi(M_1, M_2) \le 2 \max\{\chi(M_1), \chi(M_2)\}.$$

Proof. Let $k = 2 \max\{\chi(M_1), \chi(M_2)\}, S_1, \ldots, S_k$ be disjoint copies of S and $S' = \bigcup_{i=1}^k S_i$. For $s \in S$ we write s_i for the copy of s in S_i . Consider the matroids $M'_1 = \bigoplus_{i=1}^k M_1, M'_2 = \bigoplus_{i=1}^k M_2$ and M'_3 on ground set S where M'_3 is the partition matroid defined by the partition $\{\{s_1, \ldots, s_k\} : s \in S\}$. We claim that S can be partitioned into k common independent sets of M_1 and M_2 if and only if M'_1, M'_2 and M'_3 have a common independent set of size |S|. Indeed, if I' is such a set than $\{\{s \in S : s_i \in I'\} : i = 1, \ldots, k\}$ is a partition of S into k common independent sets of M_1 and M_2 , and conversely, if $S = I_1 \cup \cdots \cup I_k$ is such a partition then $\bigcup_{i=1}^k \{s_i : s \in I_i\}$ is a common independent set of M'_1, M'_2, M'_3 of size |S|. Hence, by Corollary 4.22 it suffices to show that

$$\frac{1}{2}r_1'(X_1') + \frac{1}{2}r_2'(X_2') + r_3'(X_3') \ge |S|$$

holds for any partition $S' = X'_1 \cup X'_2 \cup X'_3$ where r'_j denotes the rank function of M'_j . We may assume that X_3 is closed in M'_3 , that is, it is of the form $X'_3 = \{s_1, \ldots, s_k : s \in X_3\}$ for a set $X_3 \subseteq S$. Then

$$\frac{1}{2}r_1'(X_1') + \frac{1}{2}r_2'(X_2') + r_3'(X_3') = \frac{1}{2}\sum_{i=1}^k \left(r_1'(X_1' \cap S_i) + r_2'(X_2' \cap S_i)\right) + |X_3| \\
\geq \frac{k}{2}\min\{r_1(X_1) + r_2(X_2) : X_1 \cup X_2 = S - X_3\} + |X_3| \\
\geq \min\{|X_1| + |X_2| : X_1 \cup X_2 = S - X_3\} + |X_3| = |S|,$$

using that $\frac{k}{2}r_1(X_1) \leq |X_1|$ and $\frac{k}{2}r_2(X_2) \leq |X_2|$ for every $X_1, X_2 \subseteq S$ since M_1 and M_2 are $\frac{k}{2}$ -colourable. This concludes the proof of the theorem.

4.4 A slightly stronger result

We prove a generalization of Proposition 4.21 for the case of two matroids. This will also imply a generalization of Corollary 4.22.

Proposition 4.24. Let $\ell \geq 1$ and $M = (S, \mathcal{I})$ and $N = (S, \mathcal{J})$ be matroids on common ground set S. Let \mathcal{J}^{ℓ} denote the system of independent sets of matroid ℓN . Then

$$\eta(\mathcal{I} \cap \mathcal{J}) \ge \max\{|I| : I \in \mathcal{I} \cap \mathcal{J}^{\ell}\}/(\ell+1).$$

Proof. We prove by induction on |S|. As in the proof of Proposition 4.21, let $\mathcal{C} = \mathcal{I} \cap \mathcal{J}$ and $I \in \mathcal{C}$ a set of size $\nu(\mathcal{C})$. We may assume that there is an element $x \in S - I$ which is not a loop in M or N. We claim that $\nu(\mathcal{I}/x \cap (\mathcal{J}/x)^{\ell}) \geq \nu(\mathcal{C}) - \ell - 1$. If $I \neq \emptyset$, then there exists an element $x_0 \in I$ such that $I - x_0 + x \in \mathcal{I}$. As $I \in \mathcal{J}^{\ell}$, it is the union some independent sets I_1, \ldots, I_{ℓ} of N, and there exists elements x_1, \ldots, x_{ℓ} such that $I_1 - x_1 + x, \ldots, I_{\ell} - x_{\ell} + x \in \mathcal{J}$. Then $I - \{x_1, \ldots, x_{\ell}\} = (I_1 - x_1) \cup \cdots \cup (I_{\ell} - x_{\ell}) \in (\mathcal{J}/x)^{\ell}$, thus $I - \{x_0, \ldots, x_{\ell}\} \in \mathcal{I}/x \cap (\mathcal{J}/x)^{\ell}$ is a set of size $\nu(\mathcal{C}) - \ell - 1$ proving our claim. Applying induction to $\mathcal{C} - x$ and \mathcal{C}/x we get

$$\eta(\mathcal{C}-x) = \eta((\mathcal{I}-x) \cap (\mathcal{J}-x)) \ge \nu((\mathcal{I}-x) \cap (\mathcal{J}-x)^{\ell})/(\ell+1) = \nu(\mathcal{C})/(\ell+1),$$

$$\eta(\mathcal{C}/x) = \eta(\mathcal{I}/x \cap \mathcal{J}/x) \ge \frac{\nu(\mathcal{I}/x \cap (\mathcal{J}/x)^{\ell})}{\ell+1} \ge \frac{\nu(\mathcal{C}) - \ell - 1}{\ell+1} = \frac{\nu(\mathcal{C})}{\ell+1} - 1,$$

and $\eta(\mathcal{C}) \geq \nu(\mathcal{C})/(\ell+1)$ follows by Corollary 4.17.

Corollary 4.25. Let $\ell \geq 1$ and M_1, M_2, M_3 be matroids on the same ground set S such that

$$\frac{1}{\ell+1} \cdot r_1(X_1) + \frac{\ell}{\ell+1} \cdot r_2(X_2) + r_3(X_3) \ge k$$
(4.9)

whenever $S = X_1 \cup X_2 \cup X_3$. Then they have a common independent set of size k.

Proof. Let $C = \mathcal{I}_1 \cap \mathcal{I}_2$, then by Theorem 4.20 it suffices to show that $\eta(C|_X) + r_3(S - X) \ge k$ holds for every $X \subseteq S$. Let r_2^{ℓ} denote the rank function of the matroid $\ell M_2 = (S, \mathcal{I}_2^{\ell})$, then Proposition 4.24 and Theorem 1.2 yield

$$\eta(\mathcal{C}|_X) \ge \frac{1}{\ell+1} \max\{|I| : I \in \mathcal{I}_1 \cap \mathcal{I}_2^\ell, I \subseteq X\} = \frac{1}{\ell+1} \min\{r_1(Y_1) + r_2^\ell(Y_2) : X = Y_1 \cup Y_2\}.$$

Let $X = Y_1 \cup Y_2$, then by Theorem 1.3 there exists a set $X_2 \subseteq Y_2$ such that $r_2^{\ell}(Y_2) = \ell r_2(X_2) + |Y_2 - X_2|$. Then

$$r_1(Y_1) + r_2^{\ell}(Y_2) = r_1(Y_1) + \ell r_2(X_2) + |Y_2 - X_2| \ge r_1(X_1) + \ell r_2(X_2),$$

where $X_1 = Y_1 \cup (Y_2 - X_2)$. Combining the previous inequalities and assumption (4.9) we get the desired result:

$$\eta(\mathcal{C}|_X) \ge \frac{1}{\ell+1} \min\{r_1(X_1) + \ell r_2(X_2) : X = X_1 \cup X_2\} \ge k - r_3(S - X).$$

From this we get the following result by a minor modification of the proof of Theorem 4.23.

Theorem 4.26. Let $M_1 = (S, \mathcal{I}_1)$ and $M_2 = (S, \mathcal{I}_2)$ matroids such that $\chi(M_1) \leq p$ and $\chi(M_2) \leq pq$. Then

$$\chi(M_1, M_2) \le p + pq.$$

In particular, we proved the following conjecture for the case where one of $\chi(M_1)$ and $\chi(M_2)$ is a multiple of the other.

Conjecture 4.27. For matroids $M_1 = (S, \mathcal{I}_1)$ and $M_2 = (S, \mathcal{I}_2)$

$$\chi(M_1, M_2) \le \chi(M_1) + \chi(M_2)$$

4.5 The best possible upper bound

Aharoni and Berger [2] proposed the following strengthening of Conjecture 4.27.

Conjecture 4.28. For matroids $M_1 = (S, \mathcal{I}_1)$ and $M_2 = (S, \mathcal{I}_2)$

 $\chi(M_1, M_2) \le \max\{\chi(M_1), \chi(M_2)\} + 1.$

Moreover, if $\chi(M_1) \neq \chi(M_2)$, then $\chi(M_1, M_2) = \max{\{\chi(M_1), \chi(M_2)\}}$.

The next example shows that this bound is the best possible (except for the trivial $\chi(M_1) = \chi(M_2) = 1$ case).

Proposition 4.29. For every $k \ge 2$ there exists matroids $M_1 = (S, \mathcal{I}_1)$ and $M_2 = (S, \mathcal{I}_2)$ such that $\chi(M_1) = \chi(M_2) = k$ and $\chi(M_1, M_2) = k + 1$.

Proof [2]. Consider the complete graph on vertices v_1, v_2, v_3, v_4 and replace each of the edges v_1v_2, v_1v_3 and v_1v_4 with k-1 parallel edges. Let S denote the set of edges, M_1 the graphic matroid of this graph and M_2 the partition matroid on S where a set of edges is independent if it contains neither two parallel edges nor two disjoint edges. Clearly, $r_1(S) = 3$ and |S| = 3k implies that $\chi(M_1) \ge k$, hence $\chi(M_1) = k$ as S can be partitioned into k-2 stars with centre v_1 and two paths of length 3. M_2 is defined by a partition where each of the three classes has size k, hence $\chi(M_2) = k$.

The common independent sets of M_1 and M_2 are exactly the stars of the graph. It is clear that S can be partitioned into k + 1 stars: consider $\{v_2v_3, v_2v_4\}$, $\{v_3v_4\}$ and k - 1 stars centred at v_1 . Suppose that S can be partitioned into k stars, then |S| = 3k implies that each star has 3 edges. Looking at triangle $v_2v_3v_4$, we get that at most one of the stars is centred at v_2 , v_3 or v_4 . Then one of the edges of this triangle remains uncovered, a contradiction. Thus, we proved that $\chi(M_1, M_2) = k + 1$.

The following observation of Aharoni, Berger and Ziv [2] shows that in Conjecture 4.28 we may assume that the ground set can be partitioned into bases in both matroids.

Observation 4.30. Let M_1 and M_2 be two matroids on common ground set S. Then there exists matroids M'_1 and M'_2 on common ground set S' such that $\chi(M'_1) = \chi(M_1)$, $\chi(M'_2) = \chi(M_2)$, $\chi(M'_1, M'_2) = \chi(M_1, M_2)$ and in each of the matroids M'_1 and M'_2 , S' can be partitioned into bases.

Proof. Let $n = |S|, k = \chi(M_1), \ell = \chi(M_2)$, and S' a superset of S such that $|S'| = nk\ell$. Let $\mathcal{I}'_1 = \{X \subseteq S' : |X| \leq n\ell, X \cap S \in \mathcal{I}_1\}$ and $\mathcal{I}'_2 = \{X \subseteq S' : |X| \leq nk, X \cap S \in \mathcal{I}_2\}$, then $M'_1 = (S, \mathcal{I}'_1)$ and $M'_2 = (S, \mathcal{I}'_2)$ are matroids whose restriction to S is M_1 and M_2 , respectively. Consider a covering of S by k independent sets of M_1 , then if we extend each of these sets arbitrarily into subsets of S' of size $\ell |S|$, then we get a covering of S by k independent sets of M'_1 . This shows that $\chi(M'_1) = \chi(M_1)$, and a similar reasoning yields $\chi(M'_2) = \chi(M_2)$ and $\chi(M'_1, M'_2) = \chi(M_1, M_2)$. Moreover, $|S'| = k\ell n = kr'_1(S')$ implies that S' can be partitioned into k bases of M'_1 , and similarly S' can be partitioned into ℓ bases of M'_2 .

Aharoni, Berger and Ziv proved Conjecture 4.28 for $\chi(M_1) = \chi(M_2) = 2$.

Theorem 4.31. If $M_1 = (S, \mathcal{I}_1)$ and $M_2 = (S, \mathcal{I}_2)$ are two matroids such that $\chi(M_1) = \chi(M_2) = 2$, then $\chi(M_1, M_2) \leq 3$.

Proof [2]. By Observation 4.30 we may assume that S can be partitioned into two bases of M_1 and also into two bases of M_2 . Let B_1, B_2 be bases of M_1 and B'_1, B'_2 bases of M_2 such that $S = B_1 \cup B_2 = B'_1 \cup B'_2$ and $|B_1 \cap B'_1| + |B_2 \cap B'_2|$ is maximal. Let $X_1 = B_1 \cap B'_2$, then by Theorem 1.1 there exists a subset $X_2 \subseteq B_2$ such that both $B_1 - X_1 \cup X_2$ and $B_2 - X_2 \cup X_1$ are bases of M_1 . As $|B_1 \cap B'_1| + |B_2 \cap B'_2|$ is maximal and $(B_1 - X_1 \cup X_2) \cup (B_2 - X_2 \cup X_1)$ is a partition of S into bases of M_1 , we have

$$|B_1 \cap B'_1| + |B_2 \cap B'_2| \ge |(B_1 - X_1 \cup X_2) \cap B'_1| + |(B_2 - X_2 \cup X_1) \cap B'_2|$$

= $|B_1 \cap B'_1| + |B'_1 \cap X_2| + |B_2 \cap B'_2| - |B_2 \cap B'_2 \cap X_2| + |X_1|$
 $\ge |B_1 \cap B'_1| + |B_2 \cap B'_2| - |X_2| + |X_1| = |B_1 \cap B'_1| + |B_2 \cap B'_2|,$

thus $|B'_1 \cap X_2| = 0$, that is, $X_2 \subseteq B'_2$. Then $(B_1 \cap B'_2) \cup (B'_1 \cap B_2) \subseteq B_2 - X_2 \cup X_1$, hence $(B_1 \cap B'_2) \cup (B'_1 \cap B_2)$ is independent in M_1 . Similarly, this set is also independent in M_2 , thus $S = (B_1 \cap B'_1) \cup (B_2 \cap B'_2) \cup ((B_1 \cap B'_2) \cup (B'_1 \cap B_2))$ is a partition of S into three common independent sets of M_1 and M_2 .

Note that this proof can be converted into a polynomial algorithm, as Theorem 1.1 can be proven algorithmically.

In case of $\chi(M_1) = 2$ and $\chi(M_2) = 3$, Aharoni, Berger and Ziv showed with a slight generalization of this proof that $\chi(M_1, M_2) \leq 4$. However, Conjecture 4.28 remains open even in this special case.

Chapter 5

Reduction to partition matroids

In this chapter we present the novel approach of reducing a matroid to a partition matroid without increasing its colouring number too much. This method might serve as a useful tool for problems related to packing common independent sets of two matroids. In particular, we propose a conjecture which strengthens Theorem 4.23 and prove its first special cases. These special cases provide new results for a question of Király [43] about list colouring of two matroids. Sections 5.1-5.5 are mainly from our joint work [4] with Kristóf Bérczi and Yutaro Yamaguchi.

5.1 Reductions of matroids

Definition 5.1. Let $M = (S, \mathcal{I})$ and $N = (S, \mathcal{J})$ be two matroids on ground set S. We say that N is a *reduction* of M and use the notation $N \preceq M$, if $\mathcal{J} \subseteq \mathcal{I}$. The reduction is *rank* preserving if $r_M(S) = r_N(S)$ holds, and is denoted by $N \preceq_r M$.

The idea of reducing a matroid to a simpler one goes back to the late 60's. In [14], Crapo and Rota introduced the notion of weak maps. Given two matroids M and N on the same ground set, N is a weak map of M if every independent set of N is also independent in M. Using our terminology, N is a weak map of M if and only if N is a reduction of M. Weak maps were further investigated by Lucas [54, 55] who characterized rank preserving weak maps for linear matroids. However, these results did not consider the possible increase in the colouring number of the matroid that plays a crucial role in our investigations. We find the name 'map' slightly misleading as it suggests that there is a function in the background, although the 'mapping' in question is simply the identity map between the ground sets of the matroids. Hence, we stick to the term 'reduction' throughout the chapter.

We present results about reductions to partition matroids and prove special cases of the following conjecture.

Conjecture 5.2. Every k-colourable matroid can be reduced to a 2k-colourable partition matroid.

In particular, we show that matroid a M is reducible to a partition matroid N such (A) $\chi(N) = \chi(M)$ if M is a transversal matroid, (B) $\chi(N) \leq 2\chi(M) - 1$ if M is a graphic matroid, (C) $\chi(N) \leq \lceil kr/(r-1) \rceil$ if M is a paving matroid of rank r, and (D) $\chi(N) \leq 2\chi(M) - 2$ if M is a gammoid. It should be emphasized that in cases (A), (B) and (D) the reduction is rank preserving. Our main result is the proof for gammoids.

Notice that Theorem 4.23 would easily follow from Conjecture 5.2 using Theorem 3.4 for partition matroid (that is, the classical result of Kőnig about the edge colouring number of



Figure 5.1: An illustration of the proof of Theorem 5.3. Thick, dashed and dotted edges are corresponding to three matchings covering S.

bipartite graphs). Indeed, if matroids M_1 and M_2 are reducible to matroids N_1 and N_2 such that $\chi(N_1) \leq 2\chi(M_1)$ and $\chi(N_2) \leq \chi(M_2)$, then $\chi(M_1, M_2) \leq \chi(N_1, N_2) = \max{\chi(N_1), \chi(N_2)} \leq 2\max{\chi(M_1), \chi(M_2)}$.

It is worth mentioning that every matroid $M = (S, \mathcal{I})$ has a reduction to a partition matroid $N = (S, \mathcal{J})$ of the same rank. The sketch of the proof is as follows. Fix an arbitrary basis $B = \{s_1, \ldots, s_r\}$ of M, and add s_i to the *i*th partition class. Then for an arbitrary element $s \in S - B$, consider the fundamental circuit C(s, B) of s with respect to B, and add s to the partition class containing the element of $C(s, B) \cap B$ with the smallest index. If we pick exactly one element from every class of the partition thus obtained, we get a basis of the matroid. This can be verified using the circuit axioms, not discussed in this thesis. Nevertheless, this algorithm has no control over the sizes of the partition classes. It can happen that some of the classes have a large size compared to the colouring number of the original matroid, and such a reduction is not suitable for our purposes.

5.2 Transversal, graphic and paving matroids

As a warm-up, we first consider three basic cases: transversal, graphic, and paving matroids. Although the proofs are simple, they might help the reader to get familiar with the notion of reduction. Also, we show the connection to some earlier results such as Gallai colourings of complete graphs.

5.2.1 Transversal matroids

Theorem 5.3. Let $M = (S, \mathcal{I})$ be a k-colourable transversal matroid. Then there exists a k-colourable partition matroid N with $N \leq_r M$.

Proof. Let G = (S, T; E) a bipartite graph where $T = \{t_1, \ldots, t_r\}$, r being the rank of the transversal matroid on S. By assumption, the transversal matroid is k-colourable, so there exist k matchings F_1, \ldots, F_k covering every vertex in S exactly once. We may assume that none of these matchings is empty. Let $S_i = \bigcup_{j=1}^k N_{F_j}(t_i)$ for $i = 1, \ldots, r$ (see Figure 5.1). Then $S_1 \cup \cdots \cup S_r$ is a partition of S with classes of size at most k. Pick an arbitrary element $s_j \in S_j$ for $j = 1, \ldots, r$. The edge set $\{t_j s_j : j = 1, \ldots, r\}$ shows that the picked elements form a matchable set, hence the partition matroid defined by the partition is a k-colourable rank preserving reduction of the transversal matroid.

5.2.2 Graphic matroids

Now we turn to graphic matroid. Notice that the colouring number of the graphic matroid of graph G, is the smallest number of forests covering the edge set (hence the notation χ might be slightly confusing). Observe that reducing the graphic matroid of G to a partition matroid is equivalent to colouring the edges of the graph in such a way that there is no cycle whose edges are coloured with completely different colours.

Theorem 5.4. Let $M = (S, \mathcal{I})$ be a k-colourable graphic matroid. Then there exists a (2k-1)colourable partition matroid N with $N \preceq_r M$, and the bound for the colouring number of N is
tight.

Proof. Let G = (V, E) be a graph whose graphic matroid $M = (E, \mathcal{I})$ is k-colourable and let $K \subseteq V$ be a connected component of G of size at least 2. We claim that there exists a cut in K of size at most 2k - 1. Indeed, if every cut of K contains at least 2k edges then K is a 2k-edge-connected component and so $|E[K]| \ge k|K|$ by counting the edges around each vertex in K. By Theorem 1.7, this contradicts the k-colourability of M.

Set $S_0 := \emptyset$ and i := 0. As long as there exists a connected component K in $G - \bigcup_{j=0}^i S_j$ of size at least 2, let $S_{i+1} \subseteq E$ be a minimum cut of K (see Figure 5.2), and update i := i + 1. By the above, $|S_{i+1}| \leq 2k - 1$. Let $E = S_1 \cup \cdots \cup S_q$ denote the partition thus obtained. We claim that the partition matroid corresponding to this partition is a reduction of M. In order to see this, we have to show that every cycle of G intersects at least one of the partition classes in at least two elements. Given a cycle C, let i be the smallest index with $|S_i \cap C| > 0$. Then $C \subseteq \bigcup_{j\geq i}^q S_j$ and S_i is a cut in $\bigcup_{j\geq i}^q S_j$, hence $|S_i \cap C| \geq 2$. As the deletion of S_i increases the number of components of $G - \bigcup_{j=0}^{i-1} S_j$ by exactly one for $i = 1, \ldots, q$, the rank of the partition matroid thus obtained is the same as the rank of the graphic matroid of G, concluding the first half of the theorem.

To show that the given bound is tight, let G = (V, E) be a complete graph on 2k vertices. By Nash-Williams' theorem, the colouring number of the graphic matroid of G is k. An edge colouring of a complete graph is called a *Gallai colouring* if no triangle is coloured with three distinct colours, which is a weaker restriction than the above. Bialostocki, Dierker and Voxman [5] showed that every Gallai colouring contains a monochromatic spanning tree. This means that for any reduction of the graphic matroid of G to a partition matroid, there is a partition class of size at least 2k - 1.



Figure 5.2: An illustration of the proof of Theorem 5.4. The graph G = (V, E) can be decomposed into three forests. Let S_1, S_2, S_3 and S_4 denote the sets of thick, dashed, dotted and zigzag edges, respectively. Then S_{i+1} is a minimum cut in one of the components of $G - \bigcup_{j=1}^{i} S_j$ for $i = 0, \ldots, 3$. Observe that there is no rainbow coloured cycle in G (in which any two edges receive different colours).

Remark 5.5. Theorem 5.4 can be proved in a similar way by observing that any graph that can be decomposed into k forests contains a vertex of degree at most 2k - 1. The advantage of the proof based on cuts is twofold: it provides a rank preserving reduction, and it can be straightforwardly extended to arbitrary matroids in the following sense.

Theorem 5.6. If $M = (S, \mathcal{I})$ is a matroid so that $M|_{S'}$ has a cut of size at most k for any $S' \subseteq S$, then M can be reduced to a k-colourable partition matroid.

The proof of Theorem 5.6 is based on the fact that the intersection of a circuit and a cut in a matroid cannot have size 1.

5.2.3 Paving matroids

The next results are about paving matroids.

Theorem 5.7. Let $M = (S, \mathcal{I})$ be a k-colourable paving matroid of rank $r \geq 2$. Then there exists a $\lfloor \frac{rk}{r-1} \rfloor$ -colourable partition matroid N with $N \leq M$.

Proof. Consider any partition $S = S_1 \cup \cdots \cup S_{r-1}$ into r-1 parts of almost equal sizes, that is, $|S_i| = \lfloor |S|/(r-1) \rfloor$ or $|S_i| = \lceil |S|/(r-1) \rceil$ for $i = 1, \ldots, r-1$. As M is k-colourable, we have $|S| \leq kr$ and so $|S_i| \leq \lceil kr/(r-1) \rceil$. As M is paving, any set of size at most r-1 is independent, hence the partition matroid N defined by the partition $S_1 \cup \cdots \cup S_{r-1}$ is a $\lceil kr/(r-1) \rceil$ -colourable reduction of M, as required.

The bound on the colouring number can be improved when r = 2, and the reduction can be chosen to be rank preserving. It is not difficult to see that every loopless matroid of rank 2 is paving, hence the next theorem gives a tight bound on the colouring number of the reduction of such matroids.

Theorem 5.8. Let $M = (S, \mathcal{I})$ be a k-colourable paving matroid of rank 2. Then there exists a $\lfloor \frac{4k}{3} \rfloor$ -colourable partition matroid N with $N \preceq_r M$, and the bound for the colouring number of N is tight.

Proof. Let $S = T_1 \cup \cdots \cup T_q$ denote the partition of the ground set into classes of parallel elements, that is, for every $x \in T_i$ and $y \in T_j$ the set $\{x, y\}$ is independent if and only if $i \neq j$. We may assume that $|T_1| \geq \cdots \geq |T_q|$. Note that $|T_1| \leq k$ as the matroid is k-colourable. Let i denote the smallest index such that $|T_1 \cup \cdots \cup T_i| \geq |S|/3$ holds, and consider the partition $S = S_1 \cup S_2$ where $S_1 = T_1 \cup \cdots \cup T_i$ and $S_2 = T_{i+1} \cup \cdots \cup T_q$. If i = 1, then $|S_1| = |T_1| \leq k$, otherwise

$$|S_1| = (|T_1| + \dots + |T_{i-1}|) + |T_i| < \frac{|S|}{3} + |T_i| \le \frac{|S|}{3} + |T_1| < \frac{2|S|}{3} \le \frac{4k}{3}$$

where we used that $|S| \leq 2k$ holds as M is k-colourable and r = 2. By the definition of i, we have $|S_2| \leq 2|S|/3 \leq 4k/3$ as well. Thus $\max\{|S_1|, |S_2|\} \leq 4k/3$ always holds, hence the partition matroid N defined by the partition $S_1 \cup S_2$ is a $\lfloor 4k/3 \rfloor$ -colourable reduction of M.

The bound $\lfloor 4k/3 \rfloor$ on the colouring number of N is tight. Let S be a set of size 2k and take a partition $S = S_1 \cup S_2 \cup S_3$ where $\lceil |S|/3 \rceil = |S_1| \ge |S_2| \ge |S_3| = \lfloor |S|/3 \rfloor$. Consider the laminar matroid $M = (S, \mathcal{I})$ defined by the laminar family $\{S, S_1, S_2, S_3\}$ where $X \subseteq S$ is independent if and only if $|X| \le 2$ and $|X \cap S_i| \le 1$ for i = 1, 2, 3. It is not difficult to see that the colouring number of M is k. Suppose that M is reducible to a partition matroid N. The rank of N is either 1 or 2, as M has rank 2. In the former case $\chi(N) = 2k$, while in the latter case N is defined by a partition $S = P_1 \cup P_2$. Then every S_i is a subset of either P_1 or P_2 , as otherwise there exists two elements $x, y \in S_i$ such that $x \in P_1$ and $y \in P_2$, implying that $\{x, y\}$ is independent in N but dependent in M, a contradiction. Thus, P_1 or P_2 contains at least two of the S_i 's, and so has size at least $|S_2| + |S_3| = |S| - |S_1| = 2k - \lceil 2k/3 \rceil = \lfloor 4k/3 \rfloor$, proving $\chi(N) \ge \lfloor 4k/3 \rfloor$.

For r = 3, we can provide rank preserving reductions at the price of increasing the colouring number of N. For this purpose we need the following simple characterization of the colouring number of paving matroids.

Lemma 5.9. Let $\mathcal{H} = \{H_1, \ldots, H_q\}$ be a (possibly empty) family satisfying the conditions of Theorem 1.8, and let $M = (S, \mathcal{I})$ be the paving matroid defined by \mathcal{H} . Then

$$\chi(M) = \max\left\{ \left\lceil \frac{|S|}{r} \right\rceil, \left\lceil \frac{|H_1|}{r-1} \right\rceil, \dots, \left\lceil \frac{|H_q|}{r-1} \right\rceil \right\}.$$

Proof. Corollary 1.4 implies that $\chi(M) = \max\{\lceil |X|/r(X)\rceil : \emptyset \neq X \subseteq S\}$. Since r(S) = r and $r(H_i) = r - 1$ (as every set of size at most r - 1 is independent), we get that $\chi(M) \ge \max\{\lceil |S|/r \rceil, \lceil |H_1|/(r-1) \rceil, \ldots, \lceil |H_q|/(r-1) \rceil\}$.

To see the reverse inequality, take an arbitrary subset $X \subseteq S$. If $|X| \leq r-1$, then r(X) = |X| holds as the matroid is paving, therefore |X|/r(X) = 1. If $|X| \geq r$ and $X \subseteq H_i$ for some *i*, then r(X) = r-1 and so $|X|/r(X) \leq |H_i|/(r-1)$. Finally, if $|X| \geq r$ and none of the H_i 's contains X, then r(X) = r and so $|X|/r(X) \leq |S|/r$, proving our claim.

Theorem 5.10. Let $M = (S, \mathcal{I})$ be a k-colourable paving matroid of rank 3. Then there exists a (2k - 1)-colourable partition matroid N with $N \preceq_r M$.

Proof. Let $\mathcal{H} = \{H_1, \ldots, H_q\}$ be a (possibly empty) family satisfying the conditions of Theorem 1.8 that defines M. Without loss of generality, we may assume that $|H_1| \ge \cdots \ge |H_q|$. We distinguish two cases.

Case 1. $|S|/r \le |H_1|/(r-1)$.

Consider any partition $H_1 = S_1 \cup \cdots \cup S_{r-1}$ into r-1 parts of almost equal sizes, that is, $|S_i| = \lfloor |H_1|/(r-1) \rfloor$ or $|S_i| = \lceil |H_1|/(r-1) \rceil$ for $i = 1, \ldots, r-1$, and let $S_r = S - H_1$. Note that none of S_1, \ldots, S_r is empty since H_1 is a proper subset of S of size at least r-1. Taking any elements $s_1 \in S_1, \ldots, s_r \in S_r$ the set $X = \{s_1, \ldots, s_r\}$ is independent in M as $X \not\subseteq H_i$ $(i = 1, \ldots, q)$ by $|X \cap H_1| = r-1$ and $|H_1 \cap H_i| \leq r-2$ $(i = 2, \ldots, q)$. Thus, the partition matroid $N = (S, \mathcal{J})$ defined by the partition $S_1 \cup \cdots \cup S_r$ is a rank preserving reduction of M. N is clearly $\chi(M)$ -colourable as $|S_i| \leq \lceil |H_1|/(r-1) \rceil = \chi(M)$ for $i = 1, \ldots, r-1$ and $|S_r| = |S| - |H_1| \leq r|H_1|/(r-1) - |H_1| = |H_1|/(r-1) \leq \chi(M)$.

Case 2. $|S|/r > |H_1|/(r-1)$.

Pick an arbitrary $s \in S$, let H_{i_1}, \ldots, H_{i_l} denote the sets of the family \mathcal{H} containing s and let $H'_j = H_{i_j} - s$ for $j = 1, \ldots, l$. The sets H'_1, \ldots, H'_l are disjoint as $|H_i \cap H_j| \leq r - 2 = 1$ for $i \neq j$. We may assume that $|H'_1| \geq \cdots \geq |H'_l|$. Note that for any set $T \subseteq S - s$ which does not intersect any H'_j properly, the partition $S = \{s\} \cup T \cup (S - T - s)$ defines a partition matroid $N = (S, \mathcal{J})$ which is a reduction of M.

If $|H'_1| + \cdots + |H'_l| < |S|/3$, let $T \subseteq S - s$ be a set of size $\lfloor |S|/2 \rfloor$ containing $H'_1 \cup \cdots \cup H'_l$. Then $\chi(N) = \max\{|T|, |S| - |T| - 1\} \le |S|/2 < 2|S|/3 \le 2\chi(M)$. If $|H'_1| + \cdots + |H'_l| \ge |S|/3$, then let j denote the smallest index such that $|H'_1| + \cdots + |H'_j| \ge |S|/3$ and let $T = H'_1 \cup \cdots \cup H'_j$.

If j = 1, then $|T| = |H'_1| < 2|S|/3$ by our assumption $|S|/r > |H_1|/(r-1)$ and r = 3. Otherwise, $|H_1| < |S|/3$ and so $|T| \le |S|/3 + |H'_j| \le |S|/3 + |H'_1| < 2|S|/3$. Thus $\chi(N) = \max\{|T|, |S| - |T| - 1\} < 2|S|/3 \le 2\lceil |S|/3 \rceil = 2\chi(M)$.

Remark 5.11. Note that Case 1 of the proof does not rely on the fact that r = 3. That is, any paving matroid satisfying the assumption of Case 1 has a rank preserving reduction $N \leq_r M$ with $\chi(N) = \chi(M)$.

While Theorem 5.10 provides a rank preserving reduction, Theorem 5.7 gives a better bound on the colouring number of the reduction for r = 3. The bound $\lceil 3k/2 \rceil$ is not necessarily tight. A computer-assisted case checking shows that the tight bound for k = 3 is 4, an extremal example being the Fano matroid. However, we show that $\lceil 3k/2 \rceil$ is tight for infinitely many values of k.

A finite projective plane is a pair (S, \mathcal{L}) , where S is a finite set of points and $\mathcal{L} \subseteq 2^S$ is the family of lines that satisfies the following axioms: (P1) any two distinct points are on exactly one line, (P2) any two distinct lines have exactly one point in common, (P3) there exists four points, no three of which are collinear. For every projective plane there exists a number q called the *order*, such that (1) each line in the plane contains q+1 points, (2) q+1 lines pass through each point of the plane, (3) the plane contains $q^2 + q + 1$ points and $q^2 + q + 1$ lines [73].

The family of lines satisfies the conditions of Theorem 1.8, thus every projective plane defines a paving matroid $M = (S, \mathcal{I})$ of rank 3. A partition matroid $N = (S, \mathcal{J})$ is a reduction of Mif and only if the colouring of S defined by the partition classes of N satisfies the conditions of the following theorem.

Theorem 5.12. Consider any 3-colouring of the points of a projective plane of order q such that each line contains at most 2 colours. Then at least one of the following cases holds:

- (i) there exists an empty colour class,
- (ii) there exists a colour class of size 1,
- (iii) one of the colour classes is the complement of a line.

Proof. Let 1, 2 and 3 denote the three colours and S_1 , S_2 , S_3 the corresponding colour classes. The proof is based on the following claim.

Claim 5.13. There exists a colour class which is a subset of a line.

Proof. Suppose indirectly that each of the three colour classes contains three non-collinear points. Pick arbitrary points p_1, p_2, p_3 from colour classes S_1, S_2, S_3 , respectively. Let L_i denote the line through p_{i+1} and p_{i+2} , and set $m_{i,i+1} = |L_i \cap S_{i+1}|$ and $m_{i,i+2} = |L_i \cap S_{i+2}|$ (all indices are meant in a cyclic order). As every line of the plane has q + 1 points, we have $m_{i,i+1} + m_{i,i+2} = q + 1$. Each line through a fixed point of S_i has exactly one common point with the line L_i , hence $m_{i,i+1}$ of them contain colours i and i + 1 and $m_{i,i+2}$ of them contain colours i and i + 2. Since p_1, p_2, p_3 were arbitrary, we get that each line containing colours i + 1 and $m_{i,i+1}$ points of colour i + 1 and $m_{i,i+2}$ points of colour i + 2.

As S_{i+1} contains three non-collinear points, there exists a point $p'_{i+1} \in S_{i+1} - L_i$. By changing *i* to i + 1 in the previous paragraph, we get that exactly $m_{i+1,i+2}$ lines through p'_{i+1} contain colours i + 1 and i + 2. As the $m_{i,i+2}$ lines through p'_{i+1} and one of the points of $L_i \cap S_{i+2}$ contain colours i + 1 and i + 2, and the number of lines through p'_{i+1} with these colours is $m_{i+1,i+2}$, we get that $m_{i,i+2} \leq m_{i+1,i+2}$. By symmetry, we obtain $m_{i+1,i+2} = m_{i,i+2}$. Therefore,

 $m_{1,2} = m_{3,2} = q + 1 - m_{3,1} = q + 1 - m_{2,1} = m_{2,3} = m_{1,3} = q + 1 - m_{1,2},$

hence $m_{i,i+1} = m_{i,i+2} = (q+1)/2$ for all *i*. We get that all lines through p_{i+1} contain (q+1)/2 points of colour *i*, hence $|S_i| = (q+1)^2/2$. Therefore, $|S_1| + |S_2| + |S_3| = 3(q+1)^2/2 > q^2 + q + 1$, a contradiction.

By Claim 5.13, we may assume that $S_1 \subseteq L$ for a line L. Suppose indirectly that none of the cases (i), (ii) and (iii) hold. As $|S_1| \ge 2$, we can pick two distinct points $p_1, p'_1 \in S_1$. As none of S_2 and S_3 is the complement of L, there exists $p_2 \in S_2 - L$ and $p_3 \in S_3 - L$. The points of the line through p_1 and p_2 have colour 1 or 2 and the points of the line through p'_1 and p_3 have colour 1 or 3, hence the intersection of these lines have colour 1. This intersection point cannot lie on L, hence $S_1 \not\subseteq L$, a contradiction.

Corollary 5.14. Let $M = (S, \mathcal{I})$ be a paving matroid of rank 3 defined by the lines of a projective plane of order q. Suppose that $N = (S, \mathcal{J})$ is a partition matroid such that $N \preceq M$. Then

$$\chi(N) \ge \begin{cases} (|S| - 1)/2, & \text{if } q \text{ is odd,} \\ (|S| + 1)/2, & \text{if } q \text{ is even.} \end{cases}$$

In particular, if $q \equiv 4 \pmod{6}$ then $\chi(N) \ge \left\lceil \frac{3\chi(M)}{2} \right\rceil$, and if equality holds then N is not a rank preserving reduction of M.

Proof. As $N \leq M$, the colouring defined by the partition classes of N satisfies the conditions of Theorem 5.12. If there exists an empty colour class, then one of the colour classes has size at least $\lceil |S|/2 \rceil = (|S|+1)/2$. If there exists a colour class containing only one point p, then each of the q+1 lines through p are monochromatic except for p, hence one of the colour classes has size at least $q \lceil (q+1)/2 \rceil$, that is, q(q+1)/2 = (|S|-1)/2 if q is odd, and q(q+2)/2 = (|S|+q-1)/2 if q is even. If one of the colour classes is the complement of a line, then it has size $q^2 > (|S|+1)/2$. In all three cases, we get a colour class of size at least (|S|-1)/2 if q is odd, and (|S|+1)/2 if q is even, proving our bound on the colouring number of N.

Assume now that $q \equiv 4 \pmod{6}$. Lemma 5.9 implies that $\chi(M) = \max\{\lceil (q^2+q+1)/3 \rceil, \lceil (q+1)/2 \rceil\} = (q^2+q+1)/3$, and so $\lceil 3\chi(M)/2 \rceil = \lceil (q^2+q+1)/2 \rceil = (|S|+1)/2 \leq \chi(N)$. If equality holds then N has rank 2, that is, one of the colour classes is empty, since we have strict inequalities above in the other two cases.

Corollary 5.14 implies that the bound $\lceil 3k/2 \rceil$ for paving matroids of rank 3 is tight for infinitely many values of k. Indeed, consider projective planes of order $q = 4^{\ell}$ for $\ell \in \mathbb{Z}_{>0}$ and set $k = \frac{q^2 + q + 1}{3}$.

The next example shows another family of paving matroids of rank three which prove that the bound $\lceil 3k/2 \rceil$ for some other values of k as well.

Example 5.15. Let G = (V, E) denote the complete graph on vertices $V = \{v_0, \ldots, v_{n-1}\}$. Choose *n* to be even and consider a proper edge colouring $c : E \to \{c_1, c_2, \ldots, c_{n-1}\}$ of *G* with n-1 colours (that is, adjacent edges receive different colours). Let

$$\mathcal{H} = \{\{v_i, v_j, c(v_i v_j)\} : v_i v_j \in E\} \cup \{\{c_1, \dots, c_{n-1}\}\}.$$

Then we have $|H_1 \cap H_2| \leq 1$ for every $H_1, H_2 \in \mathcal{H}, H_1 \neq H_2$ as two edges with a common vertex have different colours. As every set of the system \mathcal{H} has at least 3 elements,

Theorem 1.8 implies that \mathcal{H} defines a paving matroid $M = (S, \mathcal{I})$ of rank 3 on ground set $S = \{v_0, \ldots, v_{n-1}, c_1, \ldots, c_{n-1}\}$. We have |S| = 2n - 1 and $\chi(M) = \lceil |S|/3 \rceil = \lceil (2n - 1)/3 \rceil$ by Lemma 5.9. Note that for n = 4 this matroid coincides with the Fano matroid (which is the matroid defined by the projective plane of order 2). It is not difficult to prove that for n = 6 the 4-colourable matroid M is not reducible to any 5-colourable partition matroid, thus the bound $\lceil 3k/2 \rceil$ is tight for k = 4.

In general, it remains open for what (even) values of n there exists a proper edge colouring c such that M is not reducible to any (n-1)-colourable partition matroid. A computer-assisted case checking shows that the edge colouring $c(v_iv_{n-1}) = c(v_{(i+j) \mod (n-1)}v_{(i-j) \mod (n-1)}) = i$ (for $i = 0, \ldots, n-2, j = 1, \ldots, \frac{n}{2} - 1$) has this property for n = 4, 6, 10, 12, 14, 16 but does not have this property for n = 8. Nevertheless, it is not difficult to check that if a good colouring exists for an even value of n such that $n \not\equiv 1 \pmod{3}$, then the bound $\lceil 3k/2 \rceil$ is tight for $k = \lceil (2n-1)/3 \rceil$.

5.3 Gammoids

The aim of this section is to prove our main result, Theorem 5.16.

Theorem 5.16. Let $M = (S, \mathcal{I})$ be a k-colourable gammoid $(k \ge 2)$. Then there exists a (2k-2)-colourable partition matroid N with $N \preceq_r M$, and the bound for the colouring number of N is tight.

Proof. Let $M = (S, \mathcal{I})$ be a k-colourable gammoid where $k \geq 2$. By the result of Ingleton and Piff, M can be obtained as the restriction of the dual of a transversal matroid. Let R be such a transversal matroid, and choose R in such a way that its rank is as small as possible. Let G = (A, B; E) be a bipartite graph defining R with $S \subseteq A$ and |B| being the rank of R.

The high-level idea of the proof is the following. First we show that there exists a B_2 -forest F in G. Then, by using an alternating structure on the components of F, we prove that F can be chosen in such a way that every component contains at most 2k - 2 vertices from S. Let C denote the set of the connected components of F, and let $N = (S, \mathcal{J})$ be the partition matroid corresponding to partition classes S(C) for $C \in C$. Every component C is a B_2 -tree, hence it contains a perfect matching between B(C) and A(C) - a for any $a \in A(C)$. That is, if we leave out exactly one vertex from A(C) for each $C \in C$, the remaining vertices of A form a basis of R, and so the set of deleted vertices form a basis in the strict gammoid that is the dual of R. This implies that $N \preceq M$ with $\chi(N) \leq 2k - 2$, thus proving the theorem.

We start with an easy observation.

Claim 5.17. G contains k matchings of size |B| such that every vertex in S is covered by at most k-1 of them.

Proof. Observe that a set $X \subseteq S$ is independent in M if and only if A - X contains a basis of R, that is, G - X has a matching covering B. The assumption that M is k-colourable is equivalent to the condition that S can be partitioned into k independent sets of M, and the claim follows.

The following claim proves an inequality that we will rely on.

Claim 5.18. $k \cdot (|A| - |B|) - |S - X| \ge k \cdot \max\{|Y| - |N(Y)| : Y \subseteq X\}$ for every $X \subseteq A$.

Proof. Let \overline{R} be the matroid that is obtained from R by adding k-1 parallel copies of every element in A-S, and adding k-2 parallel copies of every element in S. The ground set A' of \overline{R} has size (k-1)|S|+k|A-S|. Then Claim 5.17 states that \overline{R} has k pairwise disjoint bases.

Let $X \subseteq A$ be an arbitrary set and let X' be the set consisting of all the parallel copies of the elements of X. Then $|X'| = (k-1) \cdot |X \cap S| + k \cdot |X - S|$ and $r_{\overline{R}}(X') = r_R(X) = \min\{|X| - |Y| + |N(Y)| : Y \subseteq X\}$. Recall that $|A'| = (k-1) \cdot |S| + k \cdot |A - S|$ and $r_{\overline{R}}(A') = |B|$, hence

$$|A'| - |X'| = (k-1) \cdot |S| + k \cdot |A - S| - (k-1) \cdot |X \cap S| - k \cdot |X - S|$$

= $(k-1) \cdot |A| + |A - S| - (k-1) \cdot |X| - |X - S|$
= $(k-1) \cdot |A - X| + |A - S - X|$,

and

$$r_{\bar{R}}(A') - r_{\bar{R}}(X') = |B| - \min\{|X| - |Y| + |N(Y)| : Y \subseteq X\}$$
$$= |B| - |X| + \max\{|Y| - |N(Y)| : Y \subseteq X\}.$$

By Corollary 1.5 and Claim 5.17, $|A'| - |X'| \ge k \cdot (r_{\overline{R}}(A') - r_{\overline{R}}(X'))$, thus we get

$$(k-1) \cdot |A - X| + |A - S - X| \ge k \cdot (|B| - |X| + \max\{|Y| - |N(Y)|: Y \subseteq X\}).$$

After rearranging, we obtain

$$k \cdot (|A| - |B|) - |S - X| \ge k \cdot \max\{|Y| - |N(Y)| : Y \subseteq X\}$$

as stated.

Our next goal is to show that there exists a B_2 -forest in G.

Claim 5.19. G = (A, B; E) contains a B_2 -forest.

Proof. As G has a matching of size |B|, the Hall condition holds for every subset of B, thus $|N(U)| \ge |U|$ for every $U \subseteq B$. Let us call a set $U \subseteq B$ tight if |N(U)| = |U|. Assume that G does not have a B_2 -forest. Then, by Theorem 1.6, there exists a nonempty tight set in B. For arbitrary tight sets $U, W \subseteq B$, we get

$$\begin{aligned} |U| + |W| &= |N(U)| + |N(W)| = |N(U) \cap N(W)| + |N(U) \cup N(W)| \\ &\geq |N(U \cap W)| + |N(U \cup W)| \geq |U \cap W| + |U \cup W| \\ &= |U| + |W|, \end{aligned}$$

hence equality holds throughout, and so $U \cap W$ and $U \cup W$ are also tight. This implies that there is a unique maximal tight set $\emptyset \neq Z \subseteq B$.

Let X = A - N(Z). As Z is a tight set, $\max\{|Y| - |N(Y)| : Y \subseteq X\} \ge |X| - |N(X)| \ge |A - N(Z)| - |B - Z| = |A| - |B|$, thus $S - X = N(Z) \cap S = \emptyset$ by Claim 5.18. Furthermore, every matching of size |B| provides a perfect matching between Z and N(Z). That is, R is the direct sum of the transversal matroids R' and R'' defined by $G[Z \cup N(Z)]$ and $G[(B - Z) \cup (A - N(Z))]$, respectively. Therefore M is the restriction of the dual of R'' to S, contradicting the minimal choice of R.

Take an arbitrary B_2 -forest F in G. We will need the following technical claim. Claim 5.20. Every leaf of F is in S. *Proof.* Suppose to the contrary that F has a leaf vertex $a \in A - S$. Let $b \in B$ be the unique neighbour of a in F, and let $G' = G - \{a, b\}$ denote the graph obtained by deleting vertices a and b form G. Let $M' = (S, \mathcal{I}')$ denote the restriction of the dual of the transversal matroid defined by G' to S. As the strong Hall condition holds for G, the maximum size of a matching of G' is |B| - 1. We claim that M = M', contradicting the minimality of G.

Take an arbitrary set $X \in \mathcal{I}'$. By definition, G' - X has a matching P' covering B - b. Then P' + ab is a matching of G - X covering B, showing that $\mathcal{I}' \subseteq \mathcal{I}$.

To see the opposite direction, consider any set $X \in \mathcal{I}$. By definition, G-X has a matching P covering B. Take an arbitrary matching P' of G' covering B-b. Now |P| = |B| = |B-b|+1 = |P'|+1, hence the symmetric difference $P \triangle P'$ contains an alternating path Q whose first and last edges are in P, and one of the end vertices of Q is b. Then $P \triangle Q$ is a matching of G' - X covering B-b, implying $X \subseteq \mathcal{I}'$.

We denote the difference |A| - |B| by q. As M is the restriction of R to S, $r_M(S) \le q$ is clearly satisfied. Moreover, equality holds since, by Claim 5.20, every leaf of F is in S, and taking an arbitrary leaf in every component of F results a basis of M.

Let C denote the set of connected components of F. Note that the forest might have components consisting of a single vertex of A. We have $|\mathcal{C}| = |A| - |B| = q$ as |A(C)| = |B(C)| + 1for each $C \in C$. We call a component $C \in C$ large if $|S(C)| \ge 2k-1$, normal if $k \le |S(C)| \le 2k-2$, and small if $|S(C)| \le k-1$. We say that a component $C' \in C$ is reachable from a component $C'' \in C$ if there exists an alternating sequence $C_1, b_1a_2, C_2, b_2a_3, \ldots, b_{p-2}a_{p-1}, C_{p-1}, b_{p-1}a_p, C_p$ of components and edges such that $C_1 = C'', C_p = C'$, and $b_i \in B(C_i), a_{i+1} \in A(C_{i+1})$ hold for $i = 1, \ldots, p-1$. Such an alternating sequence is called a path, the length of the path being p-1. The distance of C' from C'' is the minimum length of a path from C'' to C'.

We define a potential function on the set of B_2 -forests as follows. Let $\nu \gg \mu_1 \gg \lambda_1 \gg \mu_2 \gg \lambda_2 \gg \cdots \gg \mu_{q-1} \gg \lambda_{q-1}$ be a decreasing sequence of 2q - 1 positive numbers such that the ratio between any two consecutive ones is at least |A| + 2. Recall that $|\mathcal{C}| = q$. For a component $C \in \mathcal{C}$, the minimum distance of C from a large component is denoted by $\operatorname{dist}(C)$. We define $\operatorname{dist}(C)$ to be $+\infty$ if C is not reachable from any of the large components. The *potential* of the B_2 -forest F is defined as

$$\begin{split} \varphi(F) &= \nu \cdot \sum_{C \in \mathcal{C}} \max\{|S(C)| - (2k - 2), 0\} \\ &\quad -\sum_{i=1}^{q-1} \mu_i \cdot |\{C \in \mathcal{C} : \ \operatorname{dist}(C) = i\}| \qquad (\text{number of components at distance } i) \\ &\quad +\sum_{i=1}^{q-1} \lambda_i \cdot \sum_{\substack{C \in \mathcal{C} \\ \operatorname{dist}(C) = i}} |S(C)|. \qquad (\text{number of } S\text{-vertices in components at distance } i) \end{split}$$

Let F be a B_2 -forest for which $\varphi(F)$ is as small as possible. The following claim concludes the proof of the theorem.

Claim 5.21. F has no large components.

Proof. Suppose indirectly that there exists a large component. By applying Claim 5.18 with $X = \emptyset$, $|S| \leq k \cdot (|A| - |B|) = k \cdot |\mathcal{C}|$, hence, by the pigeonhole principle, there exists a small component as well.

First we show that there exists a small component that is reachable from a large component. Suppose indirectly that this is not true, and let $\mathcal{C}' \subseteq \mathcal{C}$ denote the set of components that are



(a) A graph G = (A, B; E) with three matchings of size |B| such that every vertex in A is covered by at most two of them.



(c) Alternating structure on the connected components of F.



(b) A B_2 -forest F of G. For simplicity, every component of F is chosen to be a path.



(d) The B_2 -forest we obtain by substituting C_0 and C_1 by $C_0 + ab + by + C_1^y$ and C_1^x .

Figure 5.3: An illustration of the proof of Theorem 5.16. In the example, k = 3 and S = A. The only large component of F is C_1 , all the other components are small.

not reachable from a large component. Note that \mathcal{C}' consists of normal and small components. Define $X = \bigcup \{A(C) : C \in \mathcal{C}'\}$. By the definition of reachability, $N(X) = \bigcup \{B(C) : C \in \mathcal{C}'\}$ and so $|X| - |N(X)| = |\mathcal{C}'|$. As every component in $\mathcal{C} - \mathcal{C}'$ is either normal or large and there is at least one large component, $|S - X| \ge k \cdot |\mathcal{C} - \mathcal{C}'| + 1$. Then

$$k \cdot \max\{|Y| - |N(Y)|: Y \subseteq X\} \ge k \cdot (|X| - |N(X)|) = k \cdot |\mathcal{C}'| = k \cdot (|\mathcal{C}| - |\mathcal{C} - \mathcal{C}'|)$$
$$= k \cdot (|A| - |B|) - k \cdot |\mathcal{C} - \mathcal{C}'| \ge k \cdot (|A| - |B|) - |S - X| + 1,$$

contradicting Claim 5.18.

Let C_0 be a small component with $\operatorname{dist}(C_0)$ being minimal. By the above, $\operatorname{dist}(C_0) < +\infty$. Consider a shortest path from the set of large components to C_0 , and let C_1 be the last component on the path before C_0 . By the definition of a path, there exists an edge ab with $a \in A(C_0)$ and $b \in B(C_1)$. Let $x, y \in A(C_1)$ denote the neighbours of b in C_1 . The deletion of b from C_1 results in two connected components C_1^x and C_1^y such that $x \in C_1^x$ and $y \in C_1^y$ (see Figure 5.3).

Assume first that C_1 is a large component. As $|S(C_1)| \ge 2k - 1$ and $|S(C_0)| \le k - 1$, either $|S(C_0 + ab + bx + C_1^x)| < |S(C_1)|$ or $|S(C_0 + ab + by + C_1^y)| < |S(C_1)|$ by Claim 5.20. Hence substituting C_0 and C_1 either by $C_0 + ab + bx + C_1^x$ and C_1^y or by $C_0 + ab + by + C_1^y$ and C_1^x decreases the total violation in $\varphi(F)$, a contradiction.

Therefore, C_1 is a normal component, and there is another non-small component C_2 before C_1 on the shortest path from the set of large components to C_0 , together with an edge b'a' with $a' \in A(C_1)$ and $b' \in A(C_2)$. We may assume that $a' \in C_1^x$. We distinguish two cases.

Case 1. $|S(C_1^x)| \ge |S(C_1)| - |S(C_0)|$

Modify F by substituting components C_0 and C_1 by $C_0 + ab + by + C_1^y$ and C_1^x , respectively. By the assumption, $|S(C_0 + ab + by + C_1^y)| = |S(C_0)| + |S(C_1)| - |S(C_1^x)| \le 2 \cdot |S(C_0)| \le 2k - 2$, thus no new large component appears. Furthermore, the set of components with distance less than dist (C_1) does not change. The distance of C_1^x remains dist (C_1) because of the edge b'a'. If the distance of $C_0 + ab + by + C_1^y$ is $\operatorname{dist}(C_1)$, then the number of components at distance $\operatorname{dist}(C_1)$ increases. Otherwise, the distance of $C_0 + ab + by + C_1^y$ is at least $\operatorname{dist}(C_1) + 1$, hence the number of S-vertices in components at distance $\operatorname{dist}(C_1)$ decreases by Claim 5.20. In both cases, $\varphi(F)$ decreases, a contradiction.

Case 2. $|S(C_1^x)| < |S(C_1)| - |S(C_0)|$

Modify F by substituting components C_0 and C_1 by $C_0 + ab + bx + C_1^x$ and C_1^y , respectively. By the assumption, $|S(C_0 + ab + bx + C_1^x)| \leq |S(C_0)| + |S(C_1)| - |S(C_0)| = |S(C_1)|$. As C_1 is normal, no new large component appears. Furthermore, the set of components with distance less than dist (C_1) does not change. The distance of $C_0 + ab + bx + C_1^x$ remains dist (C_1) because of the edge b'a'. The distance of C_1^y is either dist (C_1) or dist (C_0) . In the former case, the number of components at distance dist (C_1) increases, while in the latter case, the number of S-vertices in components at distance dist (C_1) decreases as $|S(C_1^x)| + |S(C_0)| < |S(C_1)|$. In both cases, $\varphi(F)$ decreases, a contradiction.

By Claim 5.21, F has no large component. As we have seen before, the partition matroid $N = (S, \mathcal{J})$ corresponding to partition classes S(C) for $C \in \mathcal{C}$ is a reduction of the original gammoid M with colouring number at most 2k-2. By Claim 5.20, S(C) is nonempty for every $C \in \mathcal{C}$ and $r_M(S) = |\mathcal{C}| = q$, hence the reduction is rank preserving.

The bound on the colouring number of N is tight. Consider the laminar matroid $M = (S, \mathcal{I})$ defined by the laminar family $\{S, S_1, \ldots, S_k\}$ where $S_1 \cup \cdots \cup S_k$ is a partition of S into subsets of size k - 1. That is, the size of the ground set S is $k^2 - k$. We define a set $X \subseteq S$ to be independent in M if $|X \cap S_i| \leq 1$ for $i = 1, \ldots, k$, and $|X| \leq k - 1$. It is not difficult to see that M is a strict gammoid with colouring number k.

We claim that if $N \leq M$ is a partition matroid, then $\chi(N) \geq 2k-2$. Let $P_1 \cup \cdots \cup P_q$ denote the partition defining N. Then every S_i is a subset of some P_j , as otherwise there exists two elements $x, y \in S_i$ such that $x \in P_a$ and $y \in P_b$ for $a \neq b$, implying that $\{x, y\}$ is independent in N but dependent in M, a contradiction. As the rank of M is k-1, we have $q \leq k-1$. By the above, there exists a class P_j that contains at least two of the S_i 's, and so has size at least 2k-2, proving $\chi(N) \geq 2k-2$.

For the first sight, the proof seems to provide a polynomial-time algorithm for determining the partition matroid, assuming that a digraph D = (V, A) representing the gammoid is given. A bipartite graph G = (A, B; E) representing R can be constructed from D (see e.g. [22]). The reductions appearing in the proofs of Claims 5.19 and 5.20 can be performed in polynomial time, hence we may assume that G contains a B_2 -forest F. Such a forest can be found by [52]. By using the alternating structure described in the proof of Claim 5.21, we can modify F to get a B_2 -forest in which every component contains at most 2k - 2 vertices from S. However, it is not clear how to bound the number of augmentation steps as the coefficients in the potential function can be exponential. An interesting question is whether this procedure terminates after a polynomial number of steps.

5.4 Truncation and reducibility

The following theorem provides new examples of matroids for which Conjecture 5.2 holds. In fact, it provides new results only for truncations of graphic matroids, as the truncation of a paving matroid is either a free matroid or itself, and the truncation of a gammoid is a gammoid again.

Theorem 5.22. The family of matroids M that can be reduced to a $2\chi(M)$ -colourable partition matroid is closed for truncation.

Proof. Let $M = (S, \mathcal{I})$ denote a matroid of rank r that is reducible to a $2\chi(M)$ -colourable partition matroid N. As every k-truncation of M can be obtained by a series of $r-1, r-2, \ldots, k$ -truncations, it suffices to prove that the (r-1)-truncation M' of M is reducible to a $2\chi(M')$ -colourable partition matroid.

Let $S = S_1 \cup \cdots \cup S_q$ denote the partition that defines N. We may assume that $|S_1| \ge \cdots \ge |S_q|$. If $q \le r-1$, then N is already a $2\chi(M)$ -colourable reduction of M' and the claim follows by $\chi(M') \ge \chi(M)$. Hence, assume that q = r. Consider the partition matroid N' defined by the partition classes $S_1, S_2, \ldots, S_{r-2}, S_{r-1} \cup S_r$. Then N' is a reduction of M', hence it is sufficient to prove that N' is $2\chi(M')$ -colourable.

If $|S_{r-1}| + |S_r| \le |S_1|$, then $\chi(N') = |S_1| = \chi(N) \le 2\chi(M) \le 2\chi(M')$. Otherwise $|S_{r-1}| + |S_r| > |S_1|$, and so $\chi(N') = |S_{r-1}| + |S_r|$. Using $|S| = |S_1| + \dots + |S_r|$ and $|S_i| \ge (|S_{r-1}| + |S_r|)/2$ for $i = 1, 2, \dots, r-2$, we get

$$|S| \ge (r-1) \cdot \frac{|S_{r-1}| + |S_r|}{2} + |S_{r-1}| + |S_r| = \frac{r+1}{2} \cdot (|S_{r-1}| + |S_r|) = \frac{r+1}{2} \cdot \chi(N').$$

That is,

$$\chi(N') \le \frac{2|S|}{r+1} < 2 \cdot \frac{|S|}{r-1} \le 2\chi(M'),$$

concluding the proof of the theorem.

Remark 5.23. Note that an analogous statement holds if we replace $2\chi(M)$ by $2\chi(M) - 1$, as we proved $\chi(N') < 2\chi(M')$ in the second case. As laminar matroids can be obtained from free matroids by taking direct sums and truncations, Theorem 5.22 provides a simple proof that every k-colourable laminar matroid is reducible to a (2k - 1)-colourable partition matroid. As laminar matroids form a subclass of gammoids, Theorem 5.16 implies that the bound can be improved to 2k - 2. However, it is not clear whether the analogue of Theorem 5.22 holds if we replace $2\chi(M)$ by $2\chi(M) - 2$.

5.5 An application: list colouring of two matroids

In this section we show how our techniques can be applied to the list colouring problem of two matroids.

Assume that a list L_e of colours is given for each edge $e \in E$ of a graph G = (V, E). A proper list edge colouring of G is a proper edge colouring such that every edge e receives a colour from its list L_e . The list edge colouring number is the smallest integer k for which G has a proper list edge colouring whenever $|L_e| \geq k$ for every $e \in E$. The List Colouring Conjecture [39, 72] states that for any graph, the list edge colouring number equals the edge colouring number. The conjecture is widely open, and only partial results are known. The probably most famous one is the celebrated result of Galvin [27] who showed that the conjecture holds for bipartite multigraphs.

Theorem 5.24 (Galvin). The list edge colouring number of a bipartite graph is equal to its edge colouring number, that is, to its maximum degree.

Matchings in bipartite graphs are forming the common independent sets of two matroids, hence one might consider matroidal generalizations of list colouring. If a list L_s of colours is

given for each element $s \in S$, then a proper list edge colouring of M is a colouring such that every element s receives a colour from its list L_s . The list colouring number is the smallest integer k for which M has a proper list colouring whenever $|L_s| \geq k$ for every $s \in S$. Analogously, we define the proper list edge colouring of the intersection of M_1 and M_2 , and define the list colouring number $\chi_{\ell}(M_1, M_2)$ to be the smallest integer k for which the intersection of M_1 and M_2 has a proper list colouring whenever $|L_s| \geq k$ for every $s \in S$. Hence, Theorem 5.24 states that if both M_1 and M_2 are partition matroids then $\chi_{\ell}(M_1, M_2) = \max{\chi(M_1), \chi(M_2)}$.

Seymour observed [68] that the list colouring theorem holds for a single matroid.

Theorem 5.25 (Seymour). The list colouring number of a matroid is equal to its colouring number.

Lasoń [48] gave a generalisation of the theorem when the sizes of the lists are not necessarily equal. As a common generalisation of Theorems 5.24 and 5.25, it is tempting to conjecture that $\chi(M_1, M_2) = \chi_{\ell}(M_1, M_2)$ holds for every pair of matroids [43]. No pair M_1, M_2 is known for which the conjecture fails. Nevertheless, there are only a few matroid classes for which the problem was settled. Király and Pap [44] verified the conjecture for transversal matroids, for matroids of rank two, and if the common bases are the arborescences of a digraph which is the disjoint union of two spanning arborescences rooted at the same vertex.

In [42], Király proposed a weakening of the problem where the aim is to find a constant c such that if the colouring number is k, then the list colouring number is at most $c \cdot k$. For spanning arborescences, it was observed by Kobayashi [42] that the constructive characterization of k-arborescences implies that lists of size $\frac{3}{2}k+1$ are sufficient. As $\chi_{\ell}(N_1, N_2) = \max{\chi(N_1), \chi(N_2)}$ holds for partition matroids N_1 and N_2 , lists of size 2k are sufficient whenever Conjecture 5.2 holds for matroids M_1 and M_2 . In particular, Theorem 5.16 implies that list of size 2k - 2 are sufficient if M_1 and M_2 are gammoids.

5.6 Some negative results

In this section we give counterexamples to some possible conjectures about reductions of matroids. Many of them were only checked by computer and it remains open to prove them. For computer searches involving matroids, database [15] was a useful tool in many cases.

5.6.1 Reduction to strongly base orderable matroids

To use Galvin's theorem in the previous list colouring problem, it was crucial that we considered reductions only to partition matroids. In other applications, by Theorem 3.4 of Davies and McDiarmid it would be sufficient to find a reduction to a strongly base orderable matroid without increasing its colouring number too much.

In particular, if every k-colourable matroid were reducible to a (k + 1)-colourable strongly base orderable matroid, then the first claim of Conjecture 4.28 would follow by Theorem 3.4. Notice that for k = 2 this is equivalent to the conjecture that every 2-colourable matroid is reducible to a 3-colourable partition matroid. This equivalence follows from the fact that every 2-colourable strongly base orderable matroid $M = (S, \mathcal{I})$ is reducible to a 2-colourable partition matroid. Indeed, if $S = B_1 \cup B_2$ for bases B_1, B_2 of M and $f: B_1 \to B_2$ is a bijection guaranteed by the definition of strongly base orderability, then $\{\{x, f(x)\} : x \in B_1\}$ forms the classes of a 2-colourable partition matroid N such that $N \preceq M$.

For k = 3, a complicated computer-assisted case checking shows that the graphic matroid of K_6 is not reducible to any 4-colourable strongly base orderable matroid. We outline the proof

of the weaker statement that it is not reducible to any 3-colourable strongly base orderable matroid, or more generally, the graphic matroid $M = (S, \mathcal{I})$ of K_{2k} is not reducible to any kcolourable strongly base orderable matroid. If $N \preceq M$ for a k-colourable matroid $N = (S, \mathcal{J})$, then $|S| = kr_M(S)$ implies that there exists disjoint bases B_1, \ldots, B_k of M which are bases of N. It can be proved that if a graph is the union of two disjoint spanning trees then its graphic matroid is not reducible to any 2-colourable partition matroid. This implies that there is no bijection $f: B_1 \to B_2$ such that $B_1 - X + f(X)$ is a spanning tree for every $X \subseteq B_1$, that is, for every bijection $f: B_1 \to B_2$ there exists $X \subseteq B_1$ such that $B_1 - X + f(X) \notin \mathcal{I}$, and so $B_1 - X + f(X) \notin \mathcal{J}$. Thus the restriction $N|_{B_1 \cup B_2}$ is not strongly base orderable, and so neither is N.

However, the following question remains open.

Question 5.26. Is is true that the graphic matroid of K_{2k} is not reducible to any (2k - 2)colourable strongly base orderable matroid?

5.6.2 Reduction of matroids without (k + 1)-spanned elements

It is natural to ask whether Conjecture 3.7 of Kotlar and Ziv can be proved by reduction to partition matroids. In particular, if every matroid without (k + 1)-spanned elements were reducible to a k-colourable partition matroid, then the conjecture would follow. The following example shows that this is not the case.

Recall that finite projective planes define paving matroids of rank three. The Fano matroid is the matroid defined by the Fano plane, the projective plane with seven points.

Proposition 5.27. The dual of the Fano matroid is a matroid without 3-spanned elements which is not reducible to any 2-colourable partition matroid.

Proof. Let $M = (S, \mathcal{I})$ denote the dual of the Fano matroid. M is a paving matroid of rank 4, where the dependent sets of size 4 are the complements of the lines of the Fano plane. Suppose that $s \in S$ is a 3-spanned element in M, that is, s is spanned by disjoint sets $X, Y \subseteq S - s$. As every set of size 3 is independent in M, we have $4 \leq |X+s|$ and $4 \leq |Y+s|$, thus |X| = |Y| = 3 and $S = X \cup Y \cup \{s\}$. As X + s and Y + s are dependent sets of size 4, the complement of these sets are lines of the Fano plane, thus Y and X are disjoint lines. This is a contradiction since X and Y are disjoint.

Suppose that $N \leq M$ for a 2-colourable partition matroid N. As |S| = 7 and M has rank 4, N is defined by a partition $S = \{s\} \cup S_1 \cup S_2 \cup S_3$ with $|S_1| = |S_2| = |S_3| = 2$. Among the seven lines of the Fano plane three contain s, and for each i = 1, 2, 3 exactly one contains both points of S_i , thus there is at least one line containing exactly one point from each S_i . The complement of this line is independent in M and dependent in N, a contradiction. \Box

As suggested in the previous subsection, using Theorem 3.4 of Davies and McDiarmid it would be sufficient to find a reduction of a matroid without (k + 1)-spanned elements to a k-colourable strongly base orderable matroid. Unfortunately, a computer-assisted case checking shows that every 2-colourable reduction of the dual M of the Fano matroid is either equals to M or isomorphic to the direct sum of the one element matroid and the graphic matroid of K_4 . As neither of these two matroids is strongly base orderable, it follows that M is not reducible to any 2-colourable strongly base orderable matroid.

5.6.3 Reduction to matroids without (k+2)-spanned elements

Concerning the relationship of the conjecture of Kotlar and Ziv and the conjecture of Aharoni and Berger, the following question arises. Is every k-colourable matroid reducible to a matroid without (k + 2)-spanned elements? If this were the case, then the first statement of Conjecture 4.28 would follow from Conjecture 3.7. Unfortunately, a computer-assisted case checking shows that the graphic matroid of K_6 is a counterexample to this possible conjecture.

Let G = (V, E) denote the complete graph K_n and M its graphic matroid. Clearly, every element of M is (n-1)-spanned, as each edge of K_n is contained in n-2 triangles. Let $N \preceq M$ be any reduction of M. Colour the edges of G such that two edges have the same colour if and only if they are parallel elements in N, and let c denote the colouring obtained. Suppose that there exists an edge $e = uv \in E$ such that

$$|\{f \in E : c(e) = c(f)\}| + |\{w \in V : c(uv) \neq c(vw) \neq c(wu) \neq c(uv)\} \ge n - 1. \tag{(*)}$$

It is clear that e is spanned by $\{f\}$ whenever c(e) = c(f), that is, e and f are parallel. Notice that e is also spanned by $\{f,g\}$ whenever $c(f) \neq c(g)$ and e, f, g are the edges of a triangle of G, as we have $2 \leq r_N(\{f,g\}) \leq r_N(\{e,f,g\}) \leq r_M(\{e,f,g\}) = 2$ in this case. Thus (\star) implies that n-1 disjoint sets span e. A computer-assisted case checking shows that for $n \leq 6$ and every (not necessarily proper) edge colouring c, K_n has an edge e satisfying (\star) . This implies that for $n \leq 6$ every reduction of M contains an (n-1)-spanned element, in particular, the 3-colourable graphic matroid of K_6 is not reducible to any matroid without 4-spanned elements.

5.7 Conclusions

In this chapter we proved Conjecture 5.2 for the case of transversal matroids, paving matroids, truncations of graphic matroids and gammoids. However, there is more work to do even in these special cases. For paving matroids of rank $r \ge 4$ our reduction is not rank preserving, and we do not know whether the bound $\lceil \frac{rk}{r-1} \rceil$ is tight for infinitely many values of k. For gammoids it is not clear whether our algorithm is polynomial or not. Another class of matroids whose reductions might be of special interest is the family of matroids appearing in Woodall's Conjecture 3.12.

We find it possible that our algorithm for gammoids can be extended to the general case. If this is not the case and Conjecture 5.2 turns out to be false, a weaker conjecture might still be true where we allow the reduction N to be any 2k-colourable strongly base orderable matroid. As the proof of Theorem 4.23 does not provide any algorithm for partitioning the ground set into $2 \max{\chi(M_1), \chi(M_2)}$ common independent sets, a polynomial algorithm for finding such a strongly base orderable reduction would have many applications.

Bibliography

- [1] R. Aharoni and E. Berger. "The intersection of a matroid and a simplicial complex". In: Transactions of the American Mathematical Society 358.11 (2006), pp. 4895–4917.
- [2] R. Aharoni, E. Berger, and R. Ziv. "The edge covering number of the intersection of two matroids". In: *Discret. Math.* 312.1 (2012), pp. 81–85.
- [3] K. Bérczi and T. Schwarcz. "Complexity of packing common bases in matroids". In: Mathematical Programming (2020).
- [4] K. Bérczi, T. Schwarcz, and Y. Yamaguchi. "List colouring of two matroids through reduction to partition matroids". In: *arXiv preprint arXiv:1911.10485* (2019).
- [5] A. Bialostocki, P. Dierker, and W. Voxman. "Either a graph or its complement is connected: A continuing saga". In: *Mathematics Magazine* (2001).
- [6] A. Björner, B. Korte, and L. Lovász. "Homotopy properties of greedoids". In: Advances in Applied Mathematics 6.4 (1985), pp. 447–494.
- [7] J. Blasiak. "The toric ideal of a graphic matroid is generated by quadrics". In: Combinatorica 28.3 (2008), pp. 283–297.
- [8] J. E. Bonin. "Basis-Exchange Properties of Sparse Paving Matroids". In: Adv. Appl. Math. 50 (2013), 6–15.
- [9] R. A. Brualdi. "Induced matroids". In: Proceedings of the American Mathematical Society 29.2 (1971), pp. 213–213.
- [10] M. Bucić et al. "Halfway to Rota's basis conjecture". In: arXiv preprint arXiv:1810.07462 (2018).
- [11] T. Y. Chow. "Reduction of Rota's basis conjecture to a problem on three bases". In: SIAM Journal on Discrete Mathematics 23.1 (2009), pp. 369–371.
- [12] R. Cordovil and M. L. Moreira. "Bases-cobases graphs and polytopes of matroids". In: *Combinatorica* 13.2 (June 1993), pp. 157–165.
- [13] C. R. Coullard and L. Hellerstein. "Independence and port oracles for matroids, with an application to computational learning theory". In: *Combinatorica* 16.2 (1996), pp. 189– 208.
- [14] H. H. Crapo and G.-C. Rota. Combinatorial Geometries. MIT press Cambridge, Mass., 1968.
- [15] Database of Matroids. URL: http://www-imai.is.s.u-tokyo.ac.jp/~ymatsu/matroid/ (visited on 05/24/2020).
- [16] J. Davies and C. McDiarmid. "Disjoint common transversals and exchange structures". In: Journal of the London Mathematical Society 2.1 (1976), pp. 55–62.

- [17] J. Edmonds. "Submodular functions, matroids, and certain polyhedra". In: Combinatorial structures and their applications (1970), pp. 69–87.
- [18] J. Edmonds and D. R. Fulkerson. "Transversals and matroid partition". In: Journal of Research of the National Bureau of Standards (B) 69 (1965), pp. 147–153.
- [19] Equitability of matroids. URL: http://lemon.cs.elte.hu/egres/open/Equitability_ of_matroids (visited on 05/12/2020).
- [20] Z. Fekete and Szabó, Jácint. "Equitable Partitions to Spanning Trees in a Graph". In: *The Electronic Journal of Combinatorics* 18.1 (2011).
- [21] P. Feofiloff and D. H. Younger. "Directed cut transversal packing for source-sink connected graphs". In: Combinatorica 7.3 (1987), pp. 255–263.
- [22] A. Frank. Connections in combinatorial optimization. Vol. 38. OUP Oxford, 2011.
- [23] A. Frank and E. Tardos. "Matroids from crossing families". In: *Finite and Infinite Sets.* Elsevier, 1984, pp. 295–304.
- [24] G. Frobenius. Über zerlegbare Determinanten. Reimer, 1917.
- [25] S. Fujishige, K. Takazawa, and Y. Yokoi. "A Note on a Nearly Uniform Partition into Common Independent Sets of Two Matroids". In: *arXiv preprint arXiv:1909.13261* (2019).
- [26] H. Gabow. "Decomposing symmetric exchanges in matroid bases". In: Mathematical Programming 10.1 (1976), pp. 271–276.
- [27] F. Galvin. "The list chromatic index of a bipartite multigraph". In: Journal of Combinatorial Theory, Series B 63.1 (1995), pp. 153–158.
- [28] J. Geelen and P. J. Humphries. "Rota's basis conjecture for paving matroids". In: SIAM Journal on Discrete Mathematics 20.4 (2006), pp. 1042–1045.
- [29] J. Geelen and K. Webb. "On Rota's basis conjecture". In: SIAM Journal on Discrete Mathematics 21.3 (2007), pp. 802–804.
- [30] C. Greene. "Another exchange property for bases". In: Proc. Amer. Math. Soc. 46 (1974), pp. 155–156.
- [31] P Hall. "On Representatives of Subsets". In: Journal of the London Mathematical Society 1.1 (1935), pp. 26–30.
- [32] N. J. Harvey, T. Király, and L. C. Lau. "On disjoint common bases in two matroids". In: SIAM Journal on Discrete Mathematics 25.4 (2011), pp. 1792–1803.
- [33] D Hausmann and B Korte. "Algorithmic versus axiomatic definitions of matroids". In: Mathematical Programming at Oberwolfach. Springer, 1981, pp. 98–111.
- [34] J. van den Heuvel and S. Thomassé. "Cyclic orderings and cyclic arboricity of matroids". In: Journal of Combinatorial Theory, Series B 102.3 (2012), pp. 638–646.
- [35] R. Huang and G.-C. Rota. "On the relations of various conjectures on Latin squares and straightening coefficients". In: *Discrete Mathematics* 128.1-3 (1994), pp. 225–236.
- [36] A. W. Ingleton. "Transversal Matroids and Related Structures". In: Higher Combinatorics. Springer Netherlands, 1977, pp. 117–131.
- [37] A. W. Ingleton and M. J. Piff. "Gammoids and transversal matroids". In: Journal of Combinatorial Theory, Series B 15.1 (1973), pp. 51–68.
- [38] P. M. Jensen and B. Korte. "Complexity of matroid property algorithms". In: SIAM Journal on Computing 11.1 (1982), pp. 184–190.

- [39] T. R. Jensen and B. Toft. Graph Coloring Problems. Vol. 39. John Wiley & Sons, 2011.
- [40] Y. Kajitani, S. Ueno, and H. Miyano. "Ordering of the elements of a matroid such that its consecutive w elements are independent". In: *Discrete Mathematics* 72.1-3 (1988), pp. 187–194.
- [41] K. Kashiwabara. "The Toric Ideal of a Matroid of Rank 3 is Generated by Quadrics". In: *The Electronic Journal of Combinatorics* 17 (Feb. 2010).
- [42] T. Király. EGRES Open: Research forum of the Egerváry Research Group. 2013. URL: http://lemon.cs.elte.hu/egres/open/List_colouring_of_two_matroids (visited on 11/10/2019).
- [43] T. Király. "Open questions on matroids and list colouring". In: Midsummer Combinatorial Workshop 2013. 2013, pp. 36–38.
- [44] T. Király and J. Pap. On the list colouring of two matroids. Tech. rep. 2010-01. Egerváry Research Group, Budapest, 2010. URL: http://www.cs.elte.hu/egres.
- [45] B. Knaster, C. Kuratowski, and S. Mazurkiewicz. "Ein Beweis des Fixpunktsatzes für n-dimensionale Simplexe". In: *Fundamenta Mathematicae* 14.1 (1929), pp. 132–137.
- [46] D. König. "Über Graphen und ihre Anwendung auf Determinantentheorie und Mengenlehre". In: Mathematische Annalen 77.4 (1916), pp. 453–465.
- [47] D. Kotlar and R. Ziv. "On partitioning two matroids into common independent subsets". In: Discrete mathematics 300.1-3 (2005), pp. 239–244.
- [48] M. Lasoń. "List coloring of matroids and base exchange properties". In: European Journal of Combinatorics 49 (2015), pp. 265–268.
- [49] E. L. Lawler. *Combinatorial optimization*. Holt, Rinehart and Winston, 1976.
- [50] O. Lee and Y. Wakabayashi. "Note on a min-max conjecture of Woodall". In: Journal of Graph Theory 38.1 (2001), pp. 36–41.
- [51] D. Lokshtanov et al. "Deterministic truncation of linear matroids". In: ACM Transactions on Algorithms (TALG) 14.2 (2018), p. 14.
- [52] L. Lovász. "A generalization of König's theorem". In: Acta Mathematica Hungarica 21.3-4 (1970), pp. 443–446.
- [53] L. Lovász. "The matroid matching problem". In: Algebraic methods in graph theory 2 (1978), pp. 495–517.
- [54] D. Lucas. "Properties of rank preserving weak maps". In: Bulletin of the American Mathematical Society 80.1 (1974), pp. 127–131.
- [55] D. Lucas. "Weak maps of combinatorial geometries". In: Transactions of the American Mathematical Society 206 (1975), pp. 247–279.
- [56] C. L. Lucchesi and D. H. Younger. "A Minimax Theorem for Directed Graphs". In: Journal of the London Mathematical Society s2-17.3 (1978), pp. 369–374.
- [57] D. Mayhew et al. "On the asymptotic proportion of connected matroids". In: European Journal of Combinatorics 32.6 (2011), pp. 882–890.
- [58] A. Mészáros. "A Note on Disjoint Dijoins". In: Combinatorica 38.6 (2018), pp. 1485–1488.
- [59] A. Mészáros. "Matroid metszetek pakolása (Packing matroid intersections)". Master's thesis. Eötvös Loránd University, Budapest (supervisor: A. Frank), 2015.
- [60] C. S. J. Nash-Williams. "Decomposition of finite graphs into forests". In: Journal of the London Mathematical Society 1.1 (1964), pp. 12–12.

- [61] H. Nishimura and S. Kuroda. A lost mathematician, Takeo Nakasawa: the forgotten father of matroid theory. Springer Science & Business Media, 2009.
- [62] R. Pendavingh and J. van der Pol. "On the Number of Matroids Compared to the Number of Sparse Paving Matroids". In: *The Electronic Journal of Combinatorics* 22.2 (2015), P2– 51.
- [63] G. Robinson and D. Welsh. "The computational complexity of matroid properties". In: Mathematical Proceedings of the Cambridge Philosophical Society. Vol. 87. 1. Cambridge University Press. 1980, pp. 29–45.
- [64] T. J. Schaefer. "The complexity of satisfiability problems". In: Proceedings of the tenth annual ACM symposium on Theory of computing. ACM. 1978, pp. 216–226.
- [65] T. Schmidt. "Computational complexity of SAT, XSAT and NAE-SAT for linear and mixed Horn CNF formulas". PhD thesis. Universität zu Köln, 2010.
- [66] A. Schrijver. Combinatorial Optimization Polyhedra and Efficiency. Vol. B. Springer, 2003.
- [67] A. Schrijver. "Min-max relations for directed graphs". In: North-Holland Mathematics Studies. Vol. 66. Elsevier, 1982, pp. 261–280.
- [68] P. D. Seymour. "A note on list arboricity". In: Journal of Combinatorial Theory, Series B 72 (1998), pp. 150–151.
- [69] M. Shih. "Covering Properties of Convex Sets". In: Bull. London Math. Soc. 18 (1986), pp. 57–59.
- [70] E. Sperner. "Neuer Beweis für die Invarianz der Dimensionszahl und des Gebietes". In: Abh. Math. Sem. Hamburg 6.1 (1928), 265–272.
- [71] K. Takazawa and Y. Yokoi. "A generalized-polymatroid approach to disjoint common independent sets in two matroids". In: *Discrete Mathematics* 342.7 (2019), pp. 2002– 2011.
- [72] V. G. Vizing. "The chromatic class of a multigraph". In: Cybernetics and Systems Analysis 1.3 (1965), pp. 32–41.
- [73] D. J. Welsh. *Matroid theory*. Courier Corporation, 2010.
- [74] N. White. "A unique exchange property for bases". In: *Linear Algebra and Its Applications* 31 (1980), pp. 81–91.
- [75] H. Whitney. "On the Abstract Properties of Linear Dependence". In: American Journal of Mathematics 57.3 (1935), pp. 509–533.
- [76] D. R. Wilkins. Fixed Point Theorems and Economic Equilibria lecture notes. URL: http: //www.maths.tcd.ie/~dwilkins/Courses/MA3486/MA3486_Hil2016_CourseNotes/ MA3486_Hil2016_PartII.pdf (visited on 05/04/2020).